
beautiful fish.

pristine waters  
culinary excellence 
exquisite taste 
sustainable luxury food 
beautiful fish.
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“Sustainability is not only about the 
environment but the fish and the people 
in that environment also. At Clean Seas we 
are proud of our commitment to all three 
and to the future generations of seafood 
catchers, growers and consumers.” 
Hagen Stehr AO Chairman, Clean Seas.
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Highlights of the year include:

 •   Hatching of fertilised 
Southern Bluefin Tuna eggs.

•  Significant increase in YC 
2007 Kingfish growth rates.

•  Overall production volumes 
up 178%

• Sales volumes up 86%.
•  Completion of the acquisition 

of CSAG, a finfish grow out 
specialist company.

•  Commissioning of the Ulysses 
II as a dedicated harvest 
vessel.

•  Entered into a collaboration 
agreement with Kinki 
university.

Clean Seas is committed to 
achieving increasing targets each 
year. The base goals of finfish 
growout and closing the lifecycle 
of Southern Bluefin Tuna are still 
in place. It is the targets 
associated with these goals that 
are growing each year.

This year has been a year of 
continuing to achieve milestones 
and growth.
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Chairman’s Report
breeding regimes; and the 
marketing benefits flowing from 
our association with Euro-Toques 
and endorsement as a Friend of 
the Sea, position the company 
strongly for the current year.

People
Clean Seas success is due in 
no small part to the quality, 
enthusiasm and professionalism 
of its team members and I thank 
them for their efforts.

Clean Seas will continue to 
strengthen its position in the 
aquaculture sector by attracting, 
investing in and retaining high 
quality personnel.

I also express my thanks for the 
efforts and guidance of Messer’s 
McLachlan and O’Regan for their 
contribution over the FY2008 as 
Non-executive Board members. 

Tuna propagation - signed a 
collaboration agreement which 
will result in us exchanging 
successful tuna propagation 
and husbandry technologies. 
The agreement will establish a 
visiting scientists program which 
will see Clean Seas scientists 
working in Japan and Kinki 
University scientists working 
in South Australia. I have long 
been impressed and inspired by 
Kinki University’s achievements 
in Northern Bluefin breeding 
and propagation and strongly 
believe this collaboration will 
benefit both organisations. 
Kinki University’s propagated 
Northern Bluefin Tuna are 
currently being used as 
broodstock, fully closing the 
NBT life cycle. Last year, Kinki 
University sold 1,500 bred 
tuna of one kilogram (about 
40 cm) to the Japan aqua 
farming market and is this year 
targeting significant commercial 
quantities of tuna juveniles to 
be available through the use 
of pioneering survival rate 
techniques and technologies.

Clean Seas also is gaining 
international recognition for its 
commitment to sustainability 
and the quality of its produce – 
creating a significant advantage 
in world markets.

In July 2008, Clean Seas became 
the first aquaculture company 
in the Southern Hemisphere 
to earn the internationally 
recognised sustainability 
accreditation and logo mark 
of the Friend of the Sea 
organisation for its production 
of Hiramasa Kingfish and Suzuki 
Mulloway. This is a third party 
decision and as such is strictly 
investigated and bestowed 
on only the most worthy of 
organisations. It is therefore a 
most credible reference point 
in terms of sustainability for 
consumers. We have now joined 
a select few fish companies and 
supermarket chains worldwide 
in being allowed to display the 
distinctive Friend of the Sea 
sustainability logo.

Clean Seas is also the lead 
contributor and beneficiary of 
an agreement signed in Brussels 
in May between the South 
Australian Government, the 
State’s Marine Finfish Farmers 
Association and Euro-Toques 
International – an association 
of more than 4,000 of Europe’s 
finest chefs. The agreement 
provides an exceptional 
opportunity to showcase local 
products and increase export 
sales to the world’s biggest 
seafood market – worth more 
than AUD$40 billion per year and 
comprising 455 million people 
across the European Union.

Together, the ongoing 
improvements to production 
of our Kingfish and Mulloway; 
the scientific collaboration 
opportunities secured for the 
further development of SBT 

Conclusion
FY2008 represents a watershed 
year for Clean Seas. Our success 
in hatching SBT larvae from our 
broodstock; earning international 
acclaim and cooperation 
from our peers; the increased 
production of our Kingfish and 
Mulloway; and our increasingly 
sophisticated approach to 
determining and supporting our 
routes to market provide a strong 
foundation for future success 
and the basis of significant 
rewards for our investors.

Sincerely

Hagen Stehr AO
Chairman of Directors
Clean Seas Tuna Ltd.

vital step leading to the 
commercialisation of the 
closure of the SBT lifecycle.

•  The acquisition of Clean 
Seas Aquaculture Growout 
Pty Ltd (CSAG), resulting 
in a substantial increase in 
the company’s production 
capacity. The rapid increase 
in production will continue 
to translate into increased 
product for sale and 
accordingly the company is 
continuously improving its post 
harvest, sales and marketing 
capabilities.

•  The commissioning of an 
industry-leading harvest vessel 
to provide constant cold chain 
control of our farmed Kingfish 
from South Australia’s seas to 
dinner plates across the world. 
The 32 metre “Ulysses II” is 
a sophisticated aquaculture 
harvest vessel and has the 
capacity for up to 100 tonnes 
of water maintained at 0°C, 
allowing it to efficiently 
harvest and preserve in a 
constant cold chain environment 
up to 50 tonnes of Kingfish in 
one operation.

•  Significant increases in 
market penetration in Europe 
and Australia.

International recognition of 
Clean Seas’ leadership position 
in aquaculture practices and our 
success in producing fertilised 
SBT eggs has opened up 
significant scientific partnership 
opportunities for the company. 
These are being actively pursued 
as a means of accelerating our 
march towards closing the  
SBT lifecycle.

Key Clean Seas hatchery 
personnel have been working 
at the onshore Panamanian 
Yellowfin Tuna facility managed 
by the Intra-American Tropical 
Tuna Commission conducting 
a number of controlled trials 
designed to better understand 
the larval rearing requirements 
of this closely related tuna 
species. The results of the 
trials have materially assisted 
the company’s ongoing SBT 
development program.

Post June 30, 2008, Clean Seas 
and Japan’s Kinki University – 
the world’s leader in Bluefin 

Dear Fellow Shareholder,

I am pleased to introduce Clean 
Seas Tuna Limited’s (“Clean Seas”) 
third Annual Report. 

The year under review has been 
successful, highlighted by the 
company’s production of fertilised 
Southern Bluefin Tuna eggs 
and a number of SBT larvae – a 
giant step towards realising our 
plans to close the lifecycle of SBT, 
and thereby secure sustainable 
production of this premium 
endangered species.  

This breakthrough attracted 
high level international scientific 
interest, peer recognition and 
commercial support which we 
have capitalised on through 
cooperation agreements with 
centres of excellence across  
the globe.

At the same time, we have 
continued to meet our 
production targets for Mulloway 
and Yellowtail Kingfish whilst 
building on existing markets 
and securing significant 
new distribution channels, 
domestically and internationally. 
This hard work strengthened 
our routes to global markets and 
underpins the future success of 
the company. 

Operation review
The past 12 months have seen 
our business mature as we 
continued to achieve significant 
operational milestones, including:
•  Successful production of 

fertilised SBT eggs and a 
modest number of SBT 
larvae from our Arno Bay SBT 
broodstock and hatchery 
facility in March, 2008. This 
was a key world first which 
has attracted the interest of 
the international aquaculture 
industry and was the next 



Managing Director’s Report
Purchase of CSAG
In September, 2007, Clean Seas 
acquired the Stehr family-owned 
Clean Seas Aquaculture Growout 
Pty Ltd (CSAG), giving it control 
of both on-shore and off-shore 
infrastructure and expertise and 
the ability to significantly lower 
production costs.

Previously, Clean Seas had 
only managed the hatcheries 
and on-shore facilities at its 
Arno Bay, Port Augusta and 
Fitzgerald Bay operations to 
produce Kingfish and Mulloway 
fingerlings that CSAG then 
grew out to mature fish.

Yellowtail Kingfish & Mulloway
In FY2008, Clean Seas 
accelerated production of our 
main finfish species, Kingfish 
(Seriola Lalandi) producing 1.25 
million fingerlings (FY2007: 
740,000). Upgrades to the Arno 
Bay hatchery and consolidation 
of production to Arno Bay are 
expected to achieve further 
efficiencies and cost savings.

The 2008 Kingfish grow out 
season has been the most 
successful yet. Improved 
feeding techniques and 
infrastructure has resulted 
in the 2007 year class fish 
achieving a 13% improvement 
in size to comparable fish 
in prior years. This growth 
improvement will result in fish 
achieving harvesting size earlier 
– a trend we are confident will 
continue, resulting in strong 
rewards for investors.

In FY2009, it is expected 
that consolidated processing 
arrangements, automated feed 
and harvesting systems, new 
products, and incentivised 
domestic and export sales 
agreements will continue to 
improve production and sales 
growth for both Kingfish  
and Mulloway.

Since balance date the 
strengthening of the Euro 
and the USD have materially 
improved the industry 
thematics for our export of 
these species (and SBT) to 
these critical markets. 

Southern Bluefin Tuna 
(Thunnus Maccoyii)
In early March 2008, Clean 
Seas reported the world-first 
hatching of live and active 
Southern Bluefin Tuna larvae 
at our SBT land-based breeding 
facility at Arno Bay on South 
Australia’s Eyre Peninsula.

The hatching was a giant step 
towards realising our plans to 
close the lifecycle of SBT, and to 
secure sustainable production 
of this premium species. 

In the first half of FY2009, we 
anticipate the production of 
our first SBT fingerlings, with 
our understanding of the 
required process having been 
significantly enhanced by Clean 
Seas’ Collaboration Agreements 
with Kinki University in Japan 
and the Panamanian Yellowfin 
Tuna facility managed by the 
Intra-American Tropical Tuna 
Commission; and the success of 
European research consortium 
Allotuna in achieving productive 
spawning of Atlantic Bluefin 
Tuna in the Mediterranean Sea.

We anticipate the first 
commercial quantities of SBT 
fingerlings in summer 2009/10 
with revenues from initial sales 
commencing in July, 2011. To 
this end, Clean Seas continues 
to refine and enhance its 
production regimes; up-skilling 
of its SBT aquaculture workforce 
and best practice fish husbandry 
and technologies as well as 
development of a tuna product 
range for Japan, the European 
Union, USA and China.

Our People
During 2008, Cleas Seas 
has continued to grow and 
improve through attracting key 
personnel, including:
•  In January 2008, Mike 

Thomson joined us from 
Marine Harvest in Europe 
to head up our Research & 
Development Division and 
to manage the extensive 
programs being conducted 
in cooperation with Seafood 
CRC Ltd. Mike and his team 
are lending practical support 
to Morten Deichmann 
and Miles Wise with the 
SBT lifecycle project and 
Chester Wilkes and Joe 
Ciura with the Yellowtail 
Kingfish and Mulloway 
production programs. All of 
these personnel are to be 
congratulated on  
their achievements.

•   Timothy Graham joined our 
team as Manager – Sales 
& Marketing in June, 2008. 
Timothy brings critical 
experience gained from two 
major international fishing 
groups and the specialist skills 
Clean Seas requires as we 
develop into a full food service 
company. Under his direction 
we have undertaken a full 
review of the product range to 
be offered; the most efficient 
processing/logistics options 
open to the company; and the 
development of the marketing 
materials and campaigns 
required to support the 
expanded product range.
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FY2008 Results 
The FY2008 result – a NPAT loss of 
$0.7 million – was below budget, 
principally the result of weaker 
farm gate sales prices and the 
pressures from growth placed 
upon all post-harvest activities.

The company has already 
developed and successfully 
implemented measures to lower 
production and post-harvest 
costs; fine-tune its product 
range and refine its marketing 
and distribution arrangements 
to capitalise on the substantial 
progress made within the 
hatchery and growout divisions.

Corporate Strategy
Clean Seas’ strategy remains 
consistent with its original 
objectives, namely:
•  To continue to breed and grow 

out Kingfish and Mulloway;
•   To close the lifecycle of 

Southern Bluefin Tuna; and
•  To breed and grow-out 
Southern Bluefin Tuna for the 
world market.

Our strategy is to develop 
profitable and internationally 
competitive businesses in 
three main industry segments: 
Kingfish, Mulloway and SBT, 
based on “egg to plate” control 
of our products as a full food 
service company.

Dear Fellow Shareholder,

It is with pleasure that I present 
the Managing Director’s report 
on Clean Seas’ performance for 
the year ended 30 June, 2008.

Overview
The year under review (Clean 
Seas’ third as a public company) 
has been one of maturing, 
consolidating and preparing for 
the next period of exciting growth.

In summary:
•  Operationally, Clean Seas had 

a positive year, producing 1.25 
million Kingfish fingerlings and 
recording a 150% increase in 
production and 90% increase 
in sales;

•  Technically, the company’s 
achievements were highlighted 
by the successful world-first 
production of fertilised eggs 
and SBT larvae;

•  Financially, our rapid growth 
impacted on farm gate 
returns and profitability, with 
the company reporting a 
below budget result of a NPAT 
loss of $0.7 million;

•  Organisationally, the 
company has undertaken 
a comprehensive review 
of product development, 
harvesting, processing, cold 
chain and logistics, quality 
control and its carbon footprint 
to set a firm path forward as a 
full food service company.

Note 1:  Production and sales include CST owned fish since listing in December 2005, consolidated 
with growth/sales from fish acquired from SAAM in November 2006 and CSAG in 
November 2007

Note 2:   Weighted average sale prices for whole fish equivalent per kg are $8.45 for 2008R, $8.44 for  
2009F, $8.84 for 2010F and $9.15 for 2011F.

Production net of mortalities tonnes

Sales whole weight equivalent tonnes 



With the assistance of Clean Seas’ 
board and staff, the company will 
deliver on these goals.

Thank you for your support.

Marcus A. Stehr
Managing Director

•   Effective April 2008, Blue 
Harvest, a specialist seafood 
marketing company, was 
retained by the company 
under a 3+3 year performance-
based sales contract to service 
and grow the domestic market. 
Via Blue Harvest, the company 
now has direct representation 
in all capital cities in Australia.

•  The company’s European 
and North American agents 
have strongly supported the 
company as it increased its 
effective reach into these key 
export markets. 

In FY2009, we will continue 
to review all executive staff 
capabilities and job specifications 
to ensure skills are matched to 
needs and all needs fulfilled and 
supported with an appropriate 
organisational culture, systems 
and processes as we accelerate 
our emergence as a full food 
service company and prepare for 
the opportunities presented by 
the impending commercialisation 
of SBT fingerlings.

Summary
At the date of this, our third, 
Annual report we are pleased to 
be able to advise that:
(i)  Significant improvements are 

in train to lift net returns and 
profitability for the Kingfish 
and Mulloway operations;

(ii)  We anticipate the production 
of our first SBT fingerlings 
in the first half of FY2009, 
and continue to refine and 
enhance our production 
regimes; up-skilling of our 
SBT aquaculture workforce 
and best practice fish 
husbandry and technologies 
while developing a new tuna 
product range to maximise 
returns to our investors;

(iii)  Organisationally, we are 
undertaking a comprehensive 
review of product 
development, harvesting, 
processing, cold chain and 
logistics, quality control and 
our carbon footprint to set 
a firm path forward as a full 
food service company.
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*     Cost of production per kg = total Kingfish and Mulloway production for the year (net of 
mortalities) in kgs divided into total cost to the immediate post harvest stage (i.e. hatchery, 
growout and feed, fish husbandry, vessel and harvest costs) but excluding Research & 
Development , Marketing and Overhead costs.

**    2008A is 12 months CST and CSAG costs and production volumes. 
i.e. full costs of 2008 production

***  2008R is 12 months CST and 8 months CSAG costs and production volumes.  
i.e. 2008 Reported Results



Board of Director’s

Mr. Paul Robinson
Alternate Director
Appointed Alternate Director 
for Hagen Stehr AO in December 
2005, term in office 2 years. He 
is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants, with 
fifteen years experience as a 
partner of a leading international 
accounting practice. He is 
Chairman and non executive 
director for a number of private 
property and investment 
companies. He was appointed 
a non executive director of 
Australian Tuna Fisheries (the 
majority owner of Clean Seas 
Tuna Ltd) in May 2006.

Sir Tipene O’Regan
Non Executive Director
Appointed to the Board in 
September 2004, term in 
office - 4 years, presently he is 
Chairman of the Health, Safety 
and Environment Committee 
and Remuneration Committee 
as well as being a member of 
the Audit Committee.

He is a director of a number 
of companies in the tourism, 
agriculture and natural resource 
sectors. He was the founding 
chairman of the Sealord Group 
of Companies, has been a 
member of the NZ Fishing 
Industry Board and a director of 
the NZ Seafood Industry Council. 
He was previously a board 
member of the NZ Broadcasting 
Corporation and a director of 
Television NZ Ltd.

The Hon Ian McLachlan AO
Non Executive Director
Appointed to the Board in 
September 2005, term in office - 
3 years, presently he is Chairman 
of the Audit Committee 
as well as being a member 
of the Health, Safety and 
Environment Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee.

Mr McLachlan is a woolgrower 
with pastoral interests in South 
Australia and New South Wales. 
He is a graduate of Cambridge 
University. He was Federal 
Member of Parliament from 
1990 to 1998 and Minister for 
Defence and a Cabinet Minister 
in the Coalition government 
from 1996 to 1998. Previously, 
he was the President of the 
National Farmers’ Federation 
from 1984 to 1988. He was 
Chairman of the Australian 
Wool Innovation from 2002 
to 2008. He played cricket for 
South Australia for 4 years and is 
presently President of the South 
Australian Cricket Association 
and Board Member of Cricket 
Australia.

Mr. Frank Knight
Company Secretary
Appointed Company Secretary 
in February 2006. Prior to joining 
Clean Seas Tuna Limited, he 
was the Financial Controller at 
Saab Systems Pty Limited. He is 
a graduate of the University of 
South Australia with a Bachelor 
of Business and is a Certified 
Practicing Accountant.
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Mr. Hagen Stehr AO
Non Executive Chairman
Appointed to the Board acting 
as Chairman since incorporation 
in September 2000, term in 
office - 7 years, presently, he is a 
member of the Audit Committee 
and of the Health, Safety and 
Environment Committee.

He is currently a Board member 
of the South Australian 
Government’s Aquaculture 
Advisory Council as well 
as Chairman of the South 
Australian Fishing and Seafood 
Industry Training Council. He 
was a founding member of 
Australian Bight Seafood in 1971, 
a board member of the South 
Australian Fishing Co-operative 
Limited (SAFCOL) in 1974 and 
a founding member of the 
Australian Tuna Boat Owners 
Association. Hagen has been 
chair of the South Australian 
Marine Finfish Farmers 
Association, the peak body for 
the sea farming industry.

In 2008 Mr. Stehr was appointed 
as an industry representative 
on the Marine Parks Council of 
South Australia.

Mr. Marcus Stehr
Managing Director
Appointed as a Director since 
incorporation in September 
2000, term in office - 8 years. He 
holds a Master Class 4 Skippers 
Certificate and was a member 
of the Co- operative Research 
Centre’s Southern Bluefin Tuna 
Steering Committee.

Your directors submit their 
report for the year ended 
30 June 2008. The names of 
directors who held office during 
the financial year and until the 
date of this report are:



Our Species Healthy Eating

Kingfish

A natural inhabitant to the 
waters of Southern Australia, 
the Yellowtail Kingfish (seriola 
lalandi) is variously known 
around the world as Amberjack, 
Gelbschwarz, Magiatiko, 
Cheruteiro and Lechas. In 
Japan, where it is known as the 
Hiramasa, it is regarded as one of 
the finest sashimi fish. 

The pale pink flesh and sweet, 
rich flavour make the Yellowtail 
Kingfish popular with both 
Japanese and Western gourmets. 

Clean Seas call the farmed 
Yellowtail Kingfish by its Japanese 
name Hiramasa – differentiating 
it from the wild fish. The 
Hiramasa Kingfish farmed by 
Clean Seas is genuinely superior 
to the wild, with a higher fat 
content, cleaner flavour and 
firmer texture making it more 
versatile, consistent and delicious. 

Farmed to the highest 
environmental standards, the 
Hiramasa Kingfish is truly the 
world’s best.

Mulloway

The Mulloway (Argyrosomus 
hololepidotus) is also known 
in Australia as Jewfish and 
Butterfish. In Europe it is more 
commonly referred to as Sea 
Bass, Corvina, Corbina, and 
Alderfisch and in the US, Black 
Drum. In Japan where the 
species is known as Suzuki it 
has a reputation as a fantastic 
sashimi and cooking fish.

The Mulloway is one of the 
finest eating fish found in 
Southern Australia. Its mild 
sweet flavour and moist, 
broad flaked flesh making it 
popular with professionals and 
consumers alike.

Clean Seas unique farming 
methods have re-created the 
natural growing environment of 
the Mulloway and the resulting 
fish is one of the finest eating 
farmed fish in the world. 

Southern Bluefin Tuna

The Southern Blue Fin Tuna 
is amongst the most highly 
managed fisheries in the 
world. The tuna Clean Seas 
sells are at the forefront of 
this management with a 
sophisticated harvesting and 
farming programme which 
ensures the longevity of the 
species.

Under a strict quota 
management system, a specific 
number of wild fish are captured 
between December and March 
each year and are kept live in an 
open water culture environment, 
where they are fed a natural diet 
of pilchards, mackerel and squid 
for approximately 6 months. 

Clean Seas tuna are harvested 
under perfect conditions, 
utilising the latest technology 
and employing traditional 
Japanese “ike-jime” harvesting 
methods. This minimises 
stress on the fish throughout 
harvesting, delivering maximum 
shelflife and culinary excellence. 

Stay young

Fish oil is world-renowned for 
greatly reducing inflammation  
in the human body, which  
reverses the effects of ageing  
and ensures a healthy heart,  
brain, joints, digestive system  
and immune system.

Weight loss 
The researchers at the University 
of South Australia say that 
the Omega-3 found in fish oil 
increases the body’s fat-burning 
ability by improving the flow of 
blood to muscles during exercise. 
Omega-3 seems to help regulate 
the body’s blood sugar levels, 
which helps keep hunger at bay. 
In the long term, it is believed 
that a diet rich in Omega-3 
might lower the risk of diabetes  
and obesity. Fish is also a protein 
source that has a low saturated 
fat content, ideal for a calorie 
-controlled weight loss diet.

Various studies and research  
have shown that people who 
regularly consume fish gain 
major health benefits.

Studies have shown Omega-3 
from fish is deemed to be 
more effective than many 
supplements as it is in a form 
that can be used more readily 
by the body. The recommended 
daily amount of omega-3 fatty 
acids from fish is 200-600mg.

Omega-3 fatty acids 
The Omega-3 and Omega-6 
fatty acids belong to a group of 
polyunsaturated fats that are 
considered essential to life and 
health, yet we cannot produce 
them in our own bodies - they 
must be obtained from diet. 

Omega-3 fatty acids are found in 
the membrane of every cell in your 
body and help ensure that the cell 
membrane is ideally equipped 
to do its job. They are also used 
in the regulation of biological 
functions including those of the 
cardiovascular, reproductive, 
immune and nervous systems. For 
this reason, it is widely believed 
Omega-3 can help maintain 
good health, promote brain and 
vision development and protect 
against disease. While research 
into Omega-3 continues, various 
reports have already shown 
Omega-3 can help with a range of 
both physical and mental illnesses. 

Fish Oil and ADHD 
A combination of fish oil and 
evening primrose oil capsules  
may help children with Attention 
Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 
(ADHD), a 2005 study by the 
University of South Australia and 
CSIRO has revealed. Benefits  
include increased concentration, 
less impulsive behaviours and 
calmer temperaments.

Stay healthy

Eating fish may help prevent the 
development and severity of many 
diseases and disorders including:

• ADHD or ADD

• Asthma

• Cancer

• Cardiovascular disease

• Dementia

• Depression

• Diabetes

• Joint Health and Arthritis

1110
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Corporate Governance Statement
Audit Committee
The audit committee was 
established in October 2005. 
The members comprise 
Non-Executive Director Mr 
Ian McLachlan AO, Chairman, 
and Non-Executive Director, 
Sir Tipene O’Regan. Its role 
is documented in an Audit 
Committee Charter approved 
by the Board of Directors 
and presently available to all 
shareholders upon request but 
will be posted on the Clean Seas 
website in the future.

In accordance with the Charter, 
all members of the Committee 
are Non-Executive Directors. The 
role of the Committee is to:
•  monitor business risk through 

an appropriate internal control 
framework

•  assist the Board in fulfilling 
its audit, accounting and 
reporting obligations

•  monitor compliance with legal 
and statutory obligations

•  monitor the performance and 
independence of the external 
auditor and the provision of 
additional services by the 
auditor’s firm

•  ensure appropriate ethical 
standards for the management 
of Clean Seas 

Unless disclosed below, all the 
best practice recommendations 
of the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council have been applied for the 
entire financial year ended 30 
June 2008. 

The Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Board is responsible for the 
overall corporate governance 
of the entity. Given the current 
size and status of the company, 
responsibilities that are normally 
associated with committees in 
larger organisations remain with 
the main Clean Seas Board. The 
Board considers that Corporate 
Governance includes not only 
compliance with the specific 
requirements of the Corporations 
Act, Australian Stock Exchange 
Listing Rules and Company 
Constitution, but also the 
principles of ethical behaviour, 
risk management and optimising 
company performance.

In particular, during the reporting 
period, the Board:
•  promoted ethical and 

responsible decision making
•  ensured compliance with the 

Corporations Act, Accounting 
Standards, ASX Listing Rules 
and all other appropriate laws

•  ensured compliance with 
aquaculture and environmental 
regulation

•  set and reviewed strategic 
direction and approved the 
annual budget

•  established goals for 
management and monitored 
the achievement of those goals

•  monitored the operating and 
financial performance of the 
company

•  monitored the performance 
of the Board, the Managing 
Director and executive 
management and ensured a 
clear link between performance 
and remuneration.

•  ensured that an appropriate 
overall framework of internal 
control was in place to facilitate 
efficient decision making and 
monitor business risk

•  ensured that capital markets 
and Shareholders were 
fully informed of material 
developments through 
effective compliance with 
continuous disclosure best 
practice

•  recognised the legitimate 
interests of all stakeholders

•  maintained an Audit 
Committee, a Remuneration 
Committee and a Health, 
Safety and Environment 
Committee

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee 
was established in October 
2005. The members comprise 
Non-Executive Director Sir 
Tipene O’Regan, Chairman, 
and Non-Executive Director, 
Mr Ian McLachlan AO. The 
Remuneration Committee 
advises the Board on 
remuneration policies and 
practices generally and 
reviews and makes specific 
recommendations on the 
remuneration package and 
other terms of employment 
of the Managing Director 
and other senior executives 
and non-executive directors. 
The Clean Seas Chairman and 
Managing Director are invited 
to Remuneration Committee 
meetings as required to discuss 
management performance and 
remuneration packages.

Health, Safety and  
Environment Committee
The Health, Safety and 
Environment Committee 
was established in October 
2005. The members comprise 
Non-Executive Director Sir 
Tipene O’Regan, Chairman, 
Non-Executive Director, Mr 
Ian McLachlan AO and Non-
Executive Director Mr Hagen 
Stehr AO. In addition, the 
Committee will involve the 
Managing Director, the Chair 
of the Research and Technical 
Advisory Committee, the 
Hatchery Manager and other 
such persons as deemed 
appropriate.exquisitetaste
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Board Composition
The skills, experience and 
expertise relevant to the 
position of each director who 
is in office at the date of the 
annual report and their term 
of office are detailed in the 
director’s report.

The names of independent 
directors of the company are:
Sir Tipene O’Regan
Ian McLachlan

When determining whether 
a non-executive director is 
independent, the director must 
not fail any of the following 
materiality thresholds:
•  less than 10% of company 

shares are held by the director 
and any entity or individual 
directly or indirectly associated 
with the director;

•  no sales are made to, or 
purchases made from, any 
entity or individual directly or 
indirectly associated with the 
director; and

•  none of the directors’ income 
or the income of an individual 
or entity directly or indirectly 
associated with the director is 
derived from a contract with 
any member of the economic 
entity other than income 
derived as a director of the 
entity.

Independent directors have 
the right to seek independent 
professional advice in the 
furtherance of their duties as 
directors at the company’s 
expense. Written approval must 
be obtained from the chair prior 
to incurring any expense on 
behalf of the company.

Trading Policy
The company’s policy regarding 
directors and employees 
trading in its securities, is set 
by the finance committee. The 
policy restricts directors and 
employees from acting on 
material information until it has 
been released to the market and 
adequate time has been given 
for this to be reflected in the 
security’s prices.

Audit Committee
The names and qualifications 
of those appointed to the audit 
committee and their attendance 
at meetings of the committee 
are included in the Directors’ 
Report.

Performance Evaluation
An annual performance 
evaluation of the board and 
all board members is to be 
conducted by the board and 
facilitated by an independent 
consultant during the 2009 
financial year.

Remuneration Policies
The remuneration policy, which 
sets the terms and conditions 
for the key management 
personnel, was developed by the 
remuneration committee after 
seeking professional advice from 
independent consultants and 
was approved by the
board. All executives receive a 
base salary, superannuation, 
fringe benefits, performance 
incentives and retirement
benefits. The remuneration 
committee reviews executive 
packages annually by reference 
to company performance,
executive performance, 
comparable information from 
industry sectors and other listed 
companies and independent
advice. The performance of 
executives is measured against 
criteria agreed annually which is 
based on the forecast
growth of the company’s profits 
and shareholder’s value. 
The policy is designed to 
attract the highest calibre 
executives and reward them for 
performance which results in 
long-term growth in shareholder 
value.

Executives are also entitled to 
participate in the employee 
share and option arrangements.

The amount of remuneration for 
all key management personnel 
for the company and the 
five highest paid executives, 
including all monetary and 
non-monetary components, 
are detailed in the Directors’ 
Report under the heading 
Key Management Personnel 
Compensation. All remuneration 

paid to executives is valued 
at the cost to the company 
and expensed. Shares given to 
executives are valued as the 
difference between the market 
price of those shares and the 
amount paid by the executive. 
Options are valued using the 
Black-Scholes methodology.

The board expects that the 
remuneration structure 
implemented will result in the 
company being able to attract 
and retain the best executives 
to run the consolidated group. It 
will also provide executives with 
the necessary incentives to work 
to grow long-term shareholder 
value.

The payment of bonuses, 
options and other incentive 
payments are reviewed by 
the remuneration committee 
annually as part of the review 
of executive remuneration and 
a recommendation is put to the 
board for approval. All bonuses, 
options and incentives must 
be linked to predetermined 
performance criteria. The board 
can exercise its discretion in 
relation to approving incentives, 
bonuses and options and can 
recommend changes to the 
Committee’s recommendations. 
Any changes must be justified 
by reference to measurable 
performance criteria.

Remuneration Committee
The names of the members of 
the Remuneration Committee 
and their attendance at 
meetings of the Committee are 
detailed in the Directors’ Report.

There are no schemes for 
retirement benefits other than 
statutory superannuation for 
non-executive directors.

Compliance with ASX Principles 
of Good Corporate Governance.
The Board has undertaken 
a detailed review of the 
ASX recommendations and 
determined that the entity 
already complied with the 
majority of them.

Where the entity considers 
that a recommendation is not 
appropriate to its particular 
circumstances, it has the 
flexibility not to adopt it, as long 
as it explains why it has chosen 
not to adopt it. 

The following are 
recommendations that have 
not been adopted and the 
reasons why.

Best Practice Recommendation 
2.1 : A majority of the Board 
should be independent 
directors.

During the full period the 
company did not comply with 
Recommendation 2.1. The 
Directors believe that the 
company does not comply 
with this Recommendation 
for the follow reasons. Given 
the size and status of Clean 

Seas, a four member board 
is seen as sufficient for 
current requirements. The 
company’s existing board is 
made up of people with many 
years experience in primary 
production with the majority 
of that experience being within 
the fishing industry. These board 
members have the expertise to 
set the strategic direction of the 
company and the access and 
industry knowledge to question 
executive management. Mr 
Hagen Stehr and Mr Marcus 
Stehr have major interests 
in the company which the 
board believes aligns general 
shareholder aspirations with the 
entities aims.

Sir Tipene O’Regan and Mr Ian 
McLachlan AO are considered to 
be independent and Mr Hagen 
Stehr AO and Mr Marcus Stehr 
are not independent by virtue of 
their substantial interests in the 
company.

Best Practice Recommendation 
2.2 : The Chairperson should be 
an independent director.

During the full period the 
company did not comply with 
Recommendation 2.2. The 
entity’s Chairperson is Mr Hagen 
Stehr who is not considered 
independent by virtue of his 
substantial holding in the 
company. This is considered 
appropriate given: 
•  The Stehr family’s interest in 

the entity; 

•  The 45 years experience Mr 
Stehr has had in the various 
industries within which the 
entity operates and

•  The various positions and 
activities Mr Stehr is engaged 
in outside the entity is 
considered invaluable in his 
role as Chairman.

Best Practice Recommendation 
2.4 :The board should establish a 
nomination committee.

During the full period the 
company did not comply 
with Recommendation 
2.4.The Directors believe 
that the company’s size does 
not warrant a nomination 
committee. Responsibilities 
normally associated with 
such a committee in larger 
organisations are controlled by 
the board.

Other Information
Further information relating 
to the company’s corporate 
governance practices and 
policies have been made publicly 
available on the company’s web 
site at 
www.cleanseastuna.com.au

ASX Listing Rule 4.10.19 -  
Use of cash consistent with 
business objectives
The corporate strategy of 
the company has two prime 
objectives:
•  Produce and grow out Kingfish 

and Mulloway fingerlings for 
sale to domestic and export 
markets.

•  Close the life cycle of the 
Southern Blue Fin Tuna with an 
aim to commercially produce 
and sell the fish.

All cash spent to date has been 
used in a manner consistent 
with these stated objectives.

Corporate Governance Statement
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culinaryexcellence

The Directors present their report together with the Financial Report of Clean Seas Tuna Limited for the 
year ended 30 June 2008, and the Auditor’s Report there on.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the consolidated group during the financial year was the propagation of 
Kingfish, producing fingerlings for sale as well as the growout of Kingfish and Mulloway. The company is 
well advanced with closure of the Southern Bluefin Tuna life cycle project. After a successful spawning in 
2008 the project is now entering the commercialisation phase.

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the entity that 
occurred during the financial year under review not otherwise disclosed in this Directors’ Report or the 
Annual Financial Report.

Operating Results
The net loss after providing for income tax for the financial year attributable to the members of  
Clean Seas Tuna Limited amounted to $657,509

Dividends Paid or Recommended
The Directors have declared that no dividend be paid for the year ended 30th June 2008.

Directors Meetings
During the reporting period, there were 10 scheduled meetings of Directors, 10 scheduled formal 
meetings of the Health, Safety and Environment Committee, 12 scheduled formal meetings of the Audit 
Committee and 10 formal scheduled meetings of the Remuneration Committee held.

 Directors Meeting Health, Safety, Audit  Remuneration 
  Environment 
 Held/Attended Held/Attended Held/Attended Held/Attended

H Stehr  10/(10)* 10/(10)* 12/(10)* 10/(10)*

M Stehr 10/(10) 10/(10)

T O’Regan 10/(10) 10/(10) 12/(11) 10/(10)

I McLachlan 10/(5) 10/(5) 12/(7) 10/(5)

*Paul Robinson attended one Directors’ Meeting, one Health, Safety and Environment Committee Meeting , one Remuneration Committee Meeting 
and one audit committee meeting as alternate for Mr Hagen Stehr.

Interests in shares and options of the entity
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares, converting notes and options of 
Clean Seas Tuna Limited were: 

  Ordinary Shares Converting  Options over   
   Notes Ordinary 
    Shares
H Stehr  86,634,000 Nil 300,000

M Stehr  352,500 Nil 1,000,000

I McLachlan  168,750 Nil 150,000

T O’Regan  Nil Nil 150,000

P Robinson  158,625 Nil 50,000

85,509,000 of the ordinary shares attributed to H.Stehr are beneficially held by Australian Tuna Fisheries 
Pty Ltd. 1,125,000 of the ordinary shares attributed to H.Stehr are beneficially held by Stehr Group Pty Ltd.
All original options held by the directors were held in escrow until 11th December 2007 at which time they 
were released from escrow.

Directors’ Report
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In November 2007 the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting approved the further issue of options 
to the directors. From the options issued 950,000 are in escrow until November 2010 and 300,000 are in 
escrow until November 2012.

Remuneration Report - Audited
(a) Remuneration Policy
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each director of Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
and for the executives receiving the highest remuneration.

The remuneration policy of Clean Seas Tuna Limited has been designed to align director and executive 
objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component as well 
as specific long-term incentives based on key performance areas affecting the company’s operations and 
financial results. The board of Clean Seas believes the Remuneration Policy to be appropriate and effective 
in its ability to attract and retain the best executives and directors to run and manage the company, 
as well as create goal synergies between directors, executives and shareholders. The Board’s policy for 
determining the nature and amount of remuneration for board members and senior executives of the 
entity is as follows:

(i)  The Remuneration Policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive director and senior 
executives, was developed by the remuneration committee and approved by the board.

(ii)  All executives receive a base salary, which is determined with reference to experience and responsibilities, 
superannuation, benefits and performance incentives, which may be option or cash based.                       

(iii)  The Remuneration Committee reviews executive packages annually by reference to the company’s 
performance and the executive’s performance.

The performance of executives is measured annually against criteria agreed each year with each executive 
and is predominately based on operational outcomes which the Board would expect to translate into 
company profits and shareholder value. Bonuses and incentives are usually linked to predetermined 
performance criteria. The policy is designed to attract the best within the industry area in which the 
company operates and reward them for performance that results in long-term growth in shareholder value.

The non-executive directors and executives receive superannuation contributions but do not receive any 
other retirement benefits. All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the 
company and expensed. Options are valued using a Binomial Options model methodology. The executives 
are entitled to participate in the employee share and option arrangement.  

The board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies 
for time, commitment and responsibilities. The Remuneration Committee determines payments to the 
non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually based on market practice, duties and 
accountability. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is 
subject to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. The amount currently approved 
is $300,000 per annum. Fees for non-executive directors are not directly linked to the performance of the 
entity. To align directors interests with shareholders interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares 
in the company and are able to participate in the company option plans.

Performance Based Remuneration

As part of executive’s remuneration package there is a performance based component consisting of cash 
and options for outcomes based events. The intention of this remuneration package is to align executive 
goals with that of the business and shareholders. With respect to the cash component, the KPI’s are set 
annually with a certain level of consultation with the executives. The measures are specifically tailored to 
the areas each executive is involved in and has a level of control over and are mainly related to production 
targets that will influence profit and revenue.

Performance in relation to the KPI’s is assessed annually with bonuses being awarded depending on 
the level of achievement against each KPI. Following the assessment, the KPI’s are reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee in light of desired and actual outcomes and their efficiency assessed in relation 
to the company’s goals and shareholder wealth, before the KPI’s are set for the following year.

Company Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Directors’ and Executives’ Remuneration

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders and 
directors and executives. There have been two methods applied in achieving this aim. The first being a 
performance based bonus based on KPI’s and the second being the issue of options to the directors to 
encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests.

Board and Executive Performance review

Management have regular performance reviews and the board monitors its performance annually against 
the criteria of it’s budget, interaction with key executives and improvements in shareholder wealth. 
Information flow to the board is unrestricted and comprises detailed reports on the company’s business 
as well as copies of key correspondence.

Performance income as a proportion of total remuneration

Executives are paid performance bonuses based on varying criteria. This has lead to the proportions of 
remuneration related to performance varying between individuals. The remuneration committee has set 
these bonuses to encourage achievement of specific goals that have been given a high level of importance 
in relation to the future growth and profitability of the consolidated group.

The Remuneration Committee will review the performance bonuses to gauge their effectiveness against 
achievement of the set goals and adjust future years’ incentives as they see fit, to ensure use of the most 
cost effective and efficient methods.

(b) Employment Contracts
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director and the other key management 
personnel are:

M Stehr, Managing Director (CST)

Term of agreement - 5 years commencing 1 January 2008.

Base salary inclusive of superannuation for the year ended 31 December 2008 of $261,600, to be reviewed 
annually by the remuneration committee.

Payment of termination benefit on early termination by the company, other than for gross misconduct 
equal to 6 months base salary.

M Deichmann, General Manager Hatcheries (CST)

Term of agreement - 3 years commencing 1 Sep 2005. Extended to 31 August 2009.

Base salary inclusive of superannuation for the year ended 30 June 2008 of $152,600, to be reviewed 
annually by the remuneration committee.

Bonus scheme, as at 30 June 2008 the employee is eligible for the following performance based 
remuneration: 

• Production of 100,000 fertilised Southern Bluefin Tuna egg $70,000 and 150,000 $0.50 share options.

• Transfer of 5,000 Southern Bluefin Tuna fingerlings to sea cages. $70,000 and 150,000 $0.50  
share options.

• Production of Kingfish fingerlings. 10% of base salary if production target is reached.

F Knight, Company Secretary and CFO (CST)

Term of agreement - commenced 23 August 2007.

Base salary inclusive of superannuation for the year ended 30 June 2008 of $146,209, to be reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Payment of Termination Benefit on early termination by the company, other than for gross misconduct 
equal to 3 months base salary.

1918
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Remuneration Report - Audited
(b) Employment Contracts (Continued)

Chester Wilkes, General Manager Operations (CSAG)

Term of agreement - 1 year commenced 24 August 2006. Extended 26 February 2008.

Base salary inclusive of superannuation for the year ended 30 June 2008, of $141,700, to be reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Payment of termination benefit on early termination by the company, other than for gross misconduct 
equal to 6 months base salary.

Bonus scheme, as at 30 June 2008 the employee is eligible for the following performance based 
remuneration:

• 0.3% of EBIT for EBIT up to budgeted EBIT

• 0.5% of EBIT in excess of budgeted EBIT

Joe Curia, Product Development Manager (CSAG)

Term of agreement - Extended 7 November 2007.

Base salary inclusive of superannuation for the year ended 30 June 2008 of $119,900, to be reviewed 
annually by the remuneration committee.

Payment of termination benefit on early termination by the company, other than for gross misconduct 
equal to 1 months base salary.

Bonus scheme, as at 30 June 2008 the employee is eligible for the following performance based 
remuneration:

• Up to $10,000 based on Managing Directors assessment of performance.

(c) Key Managment Personnel Remuneration
Key management personnel 2008 Short Term Benefits

Directors Salary KPI Bonus Benefits Directors Fees 
 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000

M Stehr 175 - 6 -

H Stehr - - 5 85

T O’Regan - - - 55

I McLachlan - - - 38

M Deichmann 131 14 21 -

F Knight 76 - 16 -

C Wilkes 114 10 - -

J Ciura 102 - - -

 598 24 48 178

Key management personnel 2008 (cont’d)  

 Post Employment Benefits  Share Based Payment  Performance 
Directors Super Shares Options Total Related 
 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 %

M Stehr 16 - 89 286 -

H Stehr - - 9 99 -

T O’Regan - - 4 59 -

I McLachlan 27 - 4 69 -

M Deichmann 13 - - 179 8

F Knight 43 - 60 195 -

C Wilkes 24 - 51 199 5

J Ciura 9 - - 111 -

 132 - 217 1,197

Key management personnel 2007 Short Term Benefits

Directors  Salary KPI Bonus Benefits Directors Fees 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000

M Stehr  100 - 1 -

H Stehr  - - 1 50

T O’Regan  - - - 50

I McLachlan  - - - 50

M Deichmann  135 21 17 -

  235 21 19 150

Key management personnel 2007 (cont’d)  
 Post Employment Benefits  Share Based Payment  Performance 
Directors Super Shares Options Total Related 
 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 %

M Stehr 9 - 8 118 -

H Stehr - - 17 68 -

T O’Regan - - 8 58 -

I McLachlan - - 8 58 -

M Deichmann 12 - - 185 11

 21 - 41 487

Directors fees for H Stehr and T O’Regan were paid to companies associated with the Directors.
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(d) Options issued as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2008
Options are issued to directors and executives as part of their remuneration. Whereas some options are 
issued based on performance criteria or certain corporate targets being achieved, generally options are 
issued to increase goal congruence between directors, executives and shareholders.

Options Granted as Remuneration

Details of options over ordinary shares in the company provided as remuneration to each director and 
specified executive. When exercisable , each option is convertible into one ordinary share in  
Clean Seas Tuna Ltd.

    Value Per  First Last 
Key Management Vested # Granted # Grant date Option at Exercise Exercise Exercise 
Personnel    Grant Date Price Date Date

F Knight 50,000 50,000 20 Dec 2007 59,865 $0.69 20 Dec 2007 29 Nov 2011

C Wilkes 50,000 50,000 20 Dec 2007 51,414 $1.12 20 Dec 2007 30 Aug 2012

M Stehr 200,000 200,000 20 Dec 2007 160,467 $1.35 01 Dec 2010 31 Jan 2011

M Stehr 400,000 400,000 20 Dec 2007 229,426 $2.00 01 Dec 2010 31 Jan 2011

M Stehr 300,000 300,000 20 Dec 2007 174,641 $3.00 01 Dec 2012 31 Jan 2013

H Stehr 100,000 100,000 20 Dec 2007 80,233 $1.35 01 Dec 2010 31 Jan 2011

T O’Regan 50,000 50,000 20 Dec 2007 40,117 $1.35 01 Dec 2010 31 Jan 2011

I McLachlan 50,000 50,000 20 Dec 2007 40,117 $1.35 01 Dec 2010 31 Jan 2011

 1,200,000 1,200,000  836,279

All options vest within one year of grant date and expire within three to five years of vesting. Options are 
granted to key management personnel with more than one years full-time service.

Exercise price equals the market price at date of the grant or as agreed in employment contracts. 

All options were granted for nil consideration.

Comments on the current years operations are included in the Chairman’s Report and the Managing 
Director’s Report as well other sections throughout this Annual Financial Report.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs

The following significant changes on the state of affairs of the entity occurred during the financial year:

On the 9th of November 2007, the company announced a share placement (10 million shares) and a 1 for 8 
rights issue at $1.35 to raise funds for the purchase of Clean Seas Aquaculture Growout Pty Ltd.(CSAG).

On the 27th of November 2007, the company announced the completion of the share placement raising 
$13.5 million before costs and the purchase of 100% of the shares in Clean Seas Aquaculture Growout Pty 
Ltd (CSAG) for $12 million. This acquisition provided key infrastructure and specialist personnel to carry on 
the business of finfish growout. 

On the 20th of December 2007 the company completed the issue of 17,258,153 shares at $1.35 from the 
rights issue. 

In March 2008 the company announced the successful spawning of captive Southern Bluefin Tuna. 
Fertilised eggs were produced and taken through to the larvae stage of the life cycle.

After Balance Date Events

The directors of the company do not believe there are any events after the balance date that would have a 
material effect on the financial statements as presented.

Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies

Comments on the company’s future direction are included in the Chairman’s Report and the Managing 
Directors Report, as well other sections throughout this Annual Report.

Environmental Regulation and Performance

Regulated areas of the operation are as follows:

The Arno Bay and Port Augusta Hatcheries operate under an Aquaculture Land based Category C Licence 
issued by The South Australian Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries under the Aquaculture Act 
2001. The licensee is required to comply with the requirements of all statutes, regulations, by-laws, 
ordinances, rules, notices or orders lawfully given pursuant to the Aquaculture Act 2001, Aquaculture 
Regulations 2005, Environment Protection (Water Quality) Policy 2003 and the Livestock Act 1997. Clean 
Seas has not recorded any breaches of licence requirements.

Clean Seas operates 10 and CSAG operates 9 marine aquaculture licences issued by The South Australian 
Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries under the Aquaculture Act 2001. The licensee is required to 
comply with the requirements of all statutes, regulations, by-laws, ordinances, rules, notices or orders 
lawfully given pursuant to the Aquaculture Act 2001, Aquaculture Regulations 2005, Environment 
Protection (Water Quality) Policy 2003 and the Livestock Act 1997. Clean Seas has not recorded any 
breaches of licence requirements.

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers

Under Clause 51 of the Company’s Constitution, each of the company’s directors, the Company Secretary 
and every other person who is an officer is indemnified to the extent permitted by law. The terms of the 
insurance contract prohibit the company from disclosing the level of premium paid.

Each Director has entered into a Deed of Indemnity and Access which indemnifies a director against 
liabilities arising as a result of acting as a director subject to certain exclusions and provides for related 
legal costs to be paid by the Company. The Deed requires the Company to maintain an insurance policy 
against any liability incurred by a director in his or her capacity as a director during that person’s term of 
office and 7 years thereafter. It also provides a director with a right of access to board papers and other 
documentation while in office and for 7 years thereafter.

Proceedings on Behalf of Company

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in 
any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
company for all or part of those proceedings.

The company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

Non-audit Services

The following non-audit services were provided by the Company’s Auditor, Grant Thornton. The directors 
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act. The nature and scope of each type of non-
audit service provided means that auditor independence was not compromised. Grant Thornton received 
or is due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services:

 2008 2007

Taxation return preparation $4,000 $2,000

CSAG due diligence $23,000 0
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Auditor’s Declaration

The Auditor’s Independence Declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 has been 
received and can be found on page 25.

Rounding of Amounts

The company is an entity to which ASIC Class Order 98/100 applies and accordingly amounts in the 
financial statements and the Director’s Report have been rounded off to the nearest $1,000.

Signed in accordance with a Resolution of the Board of Directors.

 

Sir Tipene O’Regan       Marcus Stehr

Director  Managing Director

Date  Date

25
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 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents  7  735  1,188  3 46  1,188

Trade and other receivables  8  2,268  7,094  1 69  7,094

Prepayments  9  475  -  3 96  -

Fish inventory  10  2,932  - - -

Feed inventory  11  2,498  -  -  -

Biological assets  12  31,689  13,378  -  13,378

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   40,597  21,660  9 11  21,660

 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables  13  -  -  44,022  -

Prepayments  14  128  50  4 4  5 0

Property, plant and equipment  16  24,473  13,262  1 2,796  13,262

Investments  17  -  -  1 2,329  -

Deferred tax assets  18  896  -  3 99  -

Biological assets  19  2,751  2,673  2 ,751  2,673

Other non-current assets  20  13,155  1,456  1 ,456  1,456

Intangible assets  21  8,074  1,467  3 ,113  1,467

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   49,477  18,908  76,910  18,908

TOTAL ASSETS   90,074  40,568  7 7,821  40,568

 
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables  22  14,220  7,658  1 ,361  7,658

Borrowings  23  9,366  3,769  9 ,366  3,769

Deferred grant income  24  2,990  2,323  2 ,990  2,323

Provisions  25  394  62  1 45  6 2

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   26,970  13,812  1 3,862  13,812

 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities  26  -  139  -  139

Provisions  27  158  21  4 7  2 1

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   158  160  4 7  160

TOTAL LIABILITIES   27,128  13,972  1 3,909  13,972

NET ASSETS   62,946  26,596  6 3,912  26,596

 
EQUITY

Issued capital  28  63,140  26,371  6 3,140  26,371

Reserves  29  336  97  3 36  9 7

Retained earnings   (530)  128  4 36  128

TOTAL EQUITY   62,946  26,596  6 3,912  26,596

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 30 to 60.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Balance Sheet for the year ended 30 June 2008

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 
Revenue  3  13,561  7,764 5 ,944 7,764 

Other Income  4  394  396 4 ,243  396

Net gain arising from changes in fair value of grow out 

Kingfish and Mulloway   13,468  6,007  (1,831)  6,007

Employee benefits expense   (7,251)  (852)  (1,950)  (852)

Fish husbandry expense   (14,914)  (8,602)  (1,624)  (8,602)

Depreciation and amortisation expenses  5  (1,843)  (694)  (1,135)  (694)

Financial costs  5  (606)  (185)  (602)  (185)

Other Expenses   (4,026)  (2,111)  (2,887)  (2,111)

Profit before income tax   (1,217) 1,723  1 58 $1,723

 
Income tax expense  6  559  (617)  1 50  (617)

Net profit attributable to members   (658)  1,106  3 08  1,106

 
Earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company:

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  39  (0.45)  0.90

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  39  (0.45)  0.89

The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 30 to 60. 



2928

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers   16,371  7,435  4 ,910  7,435

Receipt from Aus Industry Grant   670  1,275  6 70  1,275

Payments to suppliers and employees   (25,916)  (15,241)  (13,269)  (15,241)

Dividends received   -  -  -  -

Interest received   91  206  8 2  206

Finance costs   (1,479)  (1,088)  (1,474)  (1,088)

Income taxes paid   -  -  -  -

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES  38  (10,263)  (7,413)  (9,081)  (7,413)

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment   (8,911)  (8,620)  (1,522)  (8,620)

Payment for purchase of shares   (12,263)  -  (12,263) -

Payments for purchase of tuna broodstock   (78)  (94)  (78)  (94)

Payment for SBT quota    (352)   (352)

Loans (repaid)/received from associated entities   -  -  (21,242)  -

Proceeds on disposal of non-current assets   1,138  19  8 68  1 9

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (20,114)  (9,047)  (34,237)  (9,047)

 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares and notes   36,799  10,982  3 6,799  10,982

Payments for costs incurred in capital raising   (1,296)  (602)  (1,296)  (602)

Proceeds from borrowings   7,000  5,429  7 ,000  5,429

Repayment of borrowings   (12,579)  (3,154)  (27)  (3,154)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES   29,924  12,655  4 2,476  12,655

 
Net change in cash held   (453)  (3,805)  (842)  (3,805)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   1,188  4,993  1 ,188  4,993

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  7  735  1,188  3 46  1,188

The cash flows statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 30 to 60.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June 2008

 Issued Capital 

Consolidated Group Notes Ordinary Convert Retained Share Total 
  Shares Notes Earnings Option 
     Reserve

Balance at 1 July 2006  10,183    6,392    (978)    3 5 15,632

Option reserve on recognition of 
options issued       6 2  6 2

Profit/(loss) attributable to members      1,106   1,106

Shares issued during the year    6,041     6,041

Transaction costs    (239)  (183)    (422)

 
Converting notes issued during the year     4,177    4,177

Balance at 30 June 2007  15,985 10,386 128 97 26,596

Option reserve on recognition of 
options issued    29     2 39  239

Profit/(loss) attributable to members      (658)   (658)

Shares issued during the year   28  36,799     36,799

Transaction costs 28 (906)    (906)

Notes converted during year 28 10,032  (9,156)    876

Balance at 30 June 2008  61,910  1,230  (530)  3 36  62,946

 Issued Capital 

Parent Entity Notes Ordinary Convert Retained Share Total 
  Shares Notes Earnings Option 
     Reserve

Balance at 1 July 2006  10,183    6,392    (978)    3 5 15,632

Option reserve on recognition of 
options issued       6 2  6 2

Profit/(loss) attributable to members      1,106   1,106

Shares issued during the year    6,041     6,041

Transaction costs    (239)  (183)    (422)

 
Converting notes issued during the year     4,177    4,177

Balance at 30 June 2007  15,985 10,386 128 97 26,596

Option reserve on recognition of 
options issued    29     2 39  239

Profit/(loss) attributable to members      308  308

Shares issued during the year   28  36,799     36,799

Transaction costs 28 (906)    (906)

Notes converted during year 28 10,032  (9,156)    876

Balance at 30 June 2008  61,910  1,230  436  3 36  63,912

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 30 to 60.
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Current and deferred income tax expense (income) 
is charged or credited directly to equity instead of 
the profit or loss when the tax relates to items that 
are credited or charged directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained 
based on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
Deferred tax assets also result where amounts 
have been fully expensed but future tax 
deductions are available. No deferred income tax 
will be recognised from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability, excluding a business combination, 
where there is no effect on accounting or taxable 
profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at reporting date. Their measurement 
also reflects the manner in which management 
expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
the related asset or liability.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary 
differences and unused tax losses are recognised 
only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the 
benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.

Where temporary differences exist in relation to 
investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, 
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not recognised where the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is not probable that the reversal 
will occur in the foreseeable future.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where 
a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it 
is intended that net settlement or simultaneous 
realisation and settlement of the respective asset 
and liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable 
right of set-off exists, the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entities where 
it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous 
realisation and settlement of the respective asset 
and liability will occur in future periods in which 
significant amounts of deferred tax assets or 
liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled.

Tax Consolidation

Clean Seas Tuna Ltd and its wholly·owned 
Australian subsidiaries will form an income tax 

consolidated group under tax consolidation 
legislation. Each entity in the group recognises its 
own current and deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
Such taxes are measured using the ‘stand-alone 
taxpayer’ approach to allocation. Current tax 
liabilities (assets) and deferred tax assets arising 
from unused tax losses and tax credits in the 
subsidiaries are immediately transferred to the 
head entity. The group will notify the Australian 
Taxation Office that it had formed an income tax 
consolidated group to apply from 1 July 2007. The 
tax consolidated group will enter a tax funding 
arrangement whereby each company in the group 
contributes to the income tax payable by the group 
in proportion to their contribution to the group’s 
taxable income. Differences between the amounts 
of net tax assets and liabilities derecognised and 
the net amounts recognised pursuant to the 
funding arrangement are recognised as either a 
contribution by, or distribution to the head entity.

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is 
carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Property

Freehold land and buildings are shown at their 
fair value (being the amount for which an asset 
could be exchanged between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction), 
based on periodic, but at least triennial, valuations 
by external independent valuers, less subsequent 
depreciation for buildings.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on 
revaluation of land and buildings are credited to a 
revaluation reserve in equity. Decreases that offset 
previous increases of the same asset are charged 
against fair value reserves directly in equity; 
all other decreases are charged to the income 
statement. Each year the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying 
amount of the asset charged to the income 
statement and depreciation based on the asset’s 
original cost is transferred from the revaluation 
reserve to retained earnings.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of 
revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 
is restated to the re-valued amount of the asset.

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are measured on the 
cost basis less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008

1  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
This financial report includes the consolidated 
financial statements and notes of Clean Seas Tuna 
Ltd and controlled entities (Consolidated Group) 
and the separate financial statements and notes of 
Clean Seas Tuna Ltd as an individual parent entity 
(Parent Entity). 

Basis of Preparation
The financial report is a general purpose financial 
report that has been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, Australian 
Accounting Interpretations, other authorative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

Australian Accounting Standards set out 
accounting policies that the AASB has concluded 
would result in a financial report containing 
relevant and reliable information about 
transactions, events and conditions to which they 
apply. Compliance with Australian Accounting 
Standards ensures that the financial statements 
and notes also comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. Material accounting policies 
adopted in the preparation of this financial report 
are presented below. They have been consistently 
applied unless otherwise stated.

The financial reports have been prepared on an 
accruals basis and is based on historical costs 
modified where applicable by the measurement at 
fair value of selected non-current assets, financial 
assets and financial liabilities.

The following is a summary of the material 
accounting policies adopted by the consolidated 
group in the preparation of the financial report. 
The accounting policies have been consistently 
applied, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Principles of Consolidation
A controlled entity is any entity over which 
Clean Seas Tuna Ltd has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. In assessing the power 
to govern, the existence and effect of holdings of 
actual and potential voting rights are considered.

A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 15 
to the financial statements.

As at reporting date, the assets and liabilities of all 
controlled entities have been incorporated into the 
consolidated financial statements as well as their 
results for the year then ended. Where controlled 
entities have entered (left) the consolidated group 
during the year, their operating results have been 

included (excluded) from the date control was 
obtained (ceased).

All inter-group balances and transactions between 
entities in the consolidated group, including 
any unrealised profits or losses, have been 
eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with those adopted by the 
parent entity.

Business Combinations

Business combinations occur where control 
over another business is obtained and results in 
the consolidation of its assets and liabilities. All 
business combinations, including those involving 
entities under common control, are accounted for 
by applying the purchase method.

The purchase method requires an acquirer of 
the business to be identified and for the cost 
of the acquisition and fair values of identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities to be 
determined as at acquisition date, being the date 
that control is obtained. Cost is determined as the 
aggregate of fair values of assets given, equity 
issued and liabilities assumed in exchange for 
control together with costs directly attributable to 
the business combination.

Goodwill is recognised initially at the excess of cost 
over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities recognised. If the fair value of the 
acquirer’s interest is greater than cost, the surplus 
is immediately recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Income Tax
The income tax expense (revenue) for the year 
comprises current income tax expense (income) 
and deferred tax expense (income).

Current income tax expense charged to the profit 
or loss is the tax payable on taxable income 
calculated using applicable income tax rates 
enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting 
date. Current tax liabilities (assets) are therefore 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid to 
(recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements 
in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability 
balances during the year as well as unused  
tax losses.
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Impairment

At each reporting date, the group assesses 
whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial instrument has been impaired. In the 
case of available-for sale financial instruments, a 
prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is 
considered to determine whether an impairment 
has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
income statement.

(e) Intangibles
Research and development 

Expenditure during the research phase of a 
project is recognised as an expense when incurred. 
Development costs are capitalised only when 
technically feasibility studies identify that the 
project will deliver future economic benefits and 
these benefits can be measured reliably.

Development costs have a finite life and are 
amortised on a systematic basis matched to the 
future economic benefits over the useful life of 
the project.

Goodwill

Goodwill and goodwill on consolidation are 
initially recorded at the amount by which the 
purchase price for a business or for an ownership 
interest in a controlled entity exceeds the fair value 
attributed to its net assets at date of acquisition. 
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included 
in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

(f) Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the group reviews the 
carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have been impaired. If such an 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the 
asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s 
carrying value over its recoverable amount is 
expensed to the income statement. 

Impairment testing is performed annually for 
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives.

Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
company estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 

(g)  Foreign Currency Transactions  
and Balances

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the group is measured 
using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars which is the group’s functional 
and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign 
currency monetary items are translated at the 
period end exchange rate. Non-monetary items 
measured at historical cost continue to be carried 
at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value are 
reported at the exchange rate at the date when 
fair values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation 
of monetary items are recognised in the income 
statement, except where deferred in equity as a 
qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.

Exchange difference arising on the translation of 
non-monetary items are recognised directly in 
equity to the extent that the gain or loss is directly 
recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange 
difference is recognised in the income statement.

(h) Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the group’s liability for 
employee benefits arising from services rendered 
by employees to balance date. Employee benefits 
that are expected to be settled within one year 
have been measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liability is settled, plus related 
on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one 
year have been measured at the present value of 
the estimated future cash outflows to be made for 
those benefits. 

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008

1  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
(c) Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not 
in excess of the recoverable amount from these 
assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on 
the basis of the expected net cash flows that will 
be received from the assets employment and 
subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows 
have been discounted to their present values in 
determining recoverable amounts.

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the 
consolidated group includes the cost of materials, 
direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate 
proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the company and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the income statement during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets 
including building and capitalised lease assets, 
but excluding freehold land, is depreciated on 
a straight line basis over their useful lives to 
the consolidated group commencing from the 
time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold 
improvements are depreciated over the shorter 
of either the unexpired period of the lease or 
the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 
Historically some assets held by Clean Seas 
Aquaculture Pty Ltd have been depreciated on a 
reducing balance method.

The depreciation rates used for each class of 
depreciable assets are:

Class of fixed asset    Depreciation Rates

  Straight line Red value

Buildings 2.5%

Vessels  7.5%  11.3%                                

Cages and nets  20.0%  33.0%

Plant, equipment  13.0%  25.0%

Computers  30.0%

Motor Vehicles  15.0%                                     

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date.

An assets’ carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These gains and losses are included in the 
income statement. When revalued assets are 
sold, amounts included in the revaluation reserve 
relating to that asset are transferred to retained 
earnings.

(d) Financial Instruments
Recognition

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost 
on trade date, which includes transaction costs, 
when the related contractual rights or obligations 
exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these 
instruments are measured as set out below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

A financial asset is classified in this category if 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in 
the short term or if so designated by management. 
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges. Realised and 
unrealised gains and losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of these assets are included in the 
income statement in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market and are stated at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

Financial Liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised 
at amortised cost, comprising original debt less 
principal payments and amortisation.

Derivative instruments

Derivative instruments are measured at fair value. 
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are taken to the income statement unless they are 
designated as hedges.

Fair value

Fair value is determined based on current bid 
prices for all quoted investments. Valuation 
techniques are applied to determine the fair 
value for all unlisted securities, including recent 
arm’s length transactions, reference to similar 
instruments and option pricing models.
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maturity is established. The death of a broodstock 
fish is not reflected as an impairment of the assets 
provided there are sufficient broodstock on hand 
to support the project objectives.

(q) Segment Information
Business segments

The group has no distinctive business segment 
that is subject to risks and returns that differ from 
other business segments within the company.

Geographical segments

The company operates in the Eyre Peninsula in 
South Australia. This results in there being no 
reportable geographic segment.

(r) Issued Capital
Transaction costs

Transaction costs of an equity transaction are 
accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of 
any related income tax benefit.

(s) Inventory
Fish inventory comprises harvested fish that are 
held in a value added frozen format. The inventory 
is valued at the expected selling price less the 
estimated costs of the sale.

Feed stock inventory is valued at purchase price 
plus cost of delivery to site.

(t)  New Accounting Standards  
and Interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and 
interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for 30 June 2008 reporting periods. The 
group’s and the parent entity’s assessment of the 
impact of these new standards and interpretations 
is set out below.

(i)  AASB 8 Operating Segments and AASB 2007-3 
Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 8. AASB 8 and 
AASB 2007-3 are effective for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 
2009. AASB 8 will result in a significant change 
in the approach to segment reporting, as it 
requires adoption of a ‘management approach’ 
to reporting on financial performance. The 
information being reported will be based on 
what the key decision makers use internally for 
evaluating segment performance and deciding 
how to allocate resources to operating segments. 
The Group has not yet decided when to adopt 
AASB 8. Application of AASB 8 may result 
in different segments, segment results and 
different types of information being reported 

in the segment note of the financial report. 
However, at this stage it is not expected to affect 
any of the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.

(ii)  Revised AASB 123 Borrowing Costs and AASB 
2007-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 123 [AASB 1, AASB 
101, AASB 107, AASB 111, AASB 116 & AASB 138 
and Interpretations 1 & 12]. The revised AASB 
123 is applicable to annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2009. It has 
removed the option to expense all borrowing 
costs and - when adopted - will require the 
capitalisation of all borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset. There will be 
no impact on the financial report of the Group, 
as the Group already capitalises borrowing 
costs relating to qualifying assets.

(iii)  Revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements and AASB 2007-8 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 101. A revised AASB 101 was issued 
in September 2007 and is applicable for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2009. It requires the presentation of 
a statement of comprehensive income and 
makes changes to the statement of changes in 
equity, but will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. If an 
entity has made a prior period adjustment 
or has reclassified items in the financial 
statements, it will need to disclose a third 
balance sheet (statement of financial position), 
this one being as at the beginning of the 
comparative period. The Group intends to apply 
the revised standard from 1 July 2009.

2  Financial Risk Management
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of 
financial risks; market risk, credit risk and cash flow 
and interest rate risk. The group seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on financial performance.

The group’s financial instruments consist mainly 
of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and 
payable, loans to and from subsidiaries, bills, leases, 
and derivatives.

The main purpose of non-derivative financial 
instruments is to raise finance for group operations.

Derivatives are used by the group for hedging 
purposes. Such instruments include forward 
exchange contracts. The group does not speculate 
in the trading of derivative instruments.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008

1  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
(h) Employee Benefits (Continued) 

Equity-settled compensation

The group operates share based option schemes. 
The fair value of equity to which employees 
become entitled is measured at the grant date 
and recognised as an expense over the vesting 
period, with a corresponding increase to an equity 
account. The fair value of options is ascertained 
using a Black-Scholes pricing model which 
incorporates all market vesting conditions. The 
number of options expected to vest is reviewed 
and adjusted at each reporting date such that 
the amount recognised for services received 
as consideration for the equity instruments 
granted shall be based on the number of equity 
instruments that eventually vest.

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a 
legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will result and that outflow can 
be reliably measured. 

( j) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within shortterm-borrowings 
in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(k) Revenue
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon 
the delivery of goods to customers. 

Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional 
basis taking into account the interest rates 
applicable to the financial assets.

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to 
receive a dividend has been established.

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised 
upon the delivery of the service to the customers.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods 
and services tax (GST).

Government Grants relating to the purchase of 
property, plant and equipment are included in 
current and non-current liabilities as deferred 
income and are credited to the income statement 
on a straight line basis over the expected lives of 
the related assets.

(l) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of 
time to prepare for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are 
recognised in income in the period in which they 
are incurred.

(m) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are 
shown inclusive of GST. Cash flows are presented 
in the cash flow statement on a net of GST basis, 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Tax Office.

(n) Comparative Figures
When required by Accounting Standards, 
comparative figures have been adjusted to 
conform to changes in presentation or the current 
financial year.

(o) Rounding of Amounts
The group has applied the relief available to it 
under ASIC Class Order 98/100 and accordingly, 
amounts in the Financial Report and Directors’ 
Report have been rounded off to the nearest $1,000.

(p) Biological Assets
Biological assets include fish held for sale and 
broodstock. These are valued under AASB141.

Fish held for resale are valued at their fair value 
less estimated point-of-sale costs determined 
as an average sale value in the two weeks post 
balance date. This value is then discounted by a 
current market determined rate that reflects the 
normal operating risk in delivering the fish on 
hand at balance date for sale to the customer at a 
future date.

Broodstock is valued using the same principles 
detailed above. The net cash flows from production 
of kingfish and mulloway fingerlings is minimal. 
The southern bluefin tuna broodstock have yet to 
generate positive cash flows. The directors have 
determined that currently, the cost of broodstock 
best approximates fair value. This will be reviewed 
annually. Broodstock will be amortised over their 
effective breeding life commencing when sexual 
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(b) Financial Instruments
(i) Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are used by the consolidated group to hedge exposure to exchange rate 
risk associated with trade debtors and imports. Transactions for hedging purposes are undertaken without 
the use of collateral as only reputable institutions with sound financial positions are dealt with.

Forward Exchange Contracts

The consolidated group enters into forward exchange contracts to buy and sell specified amounts of 
foreign currencies in the future at stipulated exchange rates. The objective in entering the forward 
exchange contracts is to protect the consolidated group against unfavourable exchange rate movements 
for both the contracted and anticipated future sales and purchases undertaken in foreign currencies.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008

2  Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
(i) Treasury Risk Management

A finance committee consisting of senior executives of the group meet on a regular basis to analyse 
financial risk exposure and to evaluate treasury management strategies in the context of the most recent 
economic conditions and forecasts.

The committee’s overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the consolidated group in meeting its 
financial targets, whilst minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance.

The finance committee operates under policies approved by the board of directors. Risk management 
policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These include the use of hedging 
derivative instruments, credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements.

(ii) Financial Risk Exposures and Management

The main risks the group is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and price risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is managed using floating rate debt. At 30 June 2008 100% of group debt is floating. It is 
the policy of the group to roll bills for periods between 90 and 180 days.

Foreign currency risk

The group is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies arising from the sale and purchase of goods and 
services in currencies other than the group’s measurement currency.

Liquidity risk

The group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate 
unutilised borrowing facilities are maintained.

Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date 
to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, 
as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.

In respect of the parent entity, credit risk also incorporates the exposure of Clean Seas Tuna Ltd to the 
liabilities of all members of the closed group.

Credit risk is managed on a group basis and reviewed regularly by the finance committee. It arises from 
exposures to customers as well as through certain derivative financial instruments and deposits with 
financial institutions.

The finance committee monitors credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidity of 
counter parties:

 • Only banks and financial institutions with an ‘A’ rating are utilised;

 • All potential customers are rated for credit worthiness taking into account their size, market position 
and financial standing; and

 • Customers that do not meet the group’s strict credit policies may only purchase in cash or letter of 
credit.

The consolidated group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group 
of receivables under financial instruments entered into by the consolidated group.

Price risk

The group is exposed to commodity price risk through fish pellet feed. The major components of the feed 
are fish oil and fish meal. The group has entered into a three year agreement with the major supplier of 
fish feed that only allows price changes on a three monthly basis, based on the movements in price of 
the components of the fish feed.

 Weighted Average Floating Interest Fixed Interest Rate Maturing Non Interest Total
 Effective Interest Rate Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Bearing 
 Rate 
Consolidated Group 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 
 % % $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 4.2%  3.5%  735  380  -  -  -  -  -  -  735  380

Deposits 6.7%  5.9%  -  808  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  808

Receivables     -  -  -  - -  -  2,268  7,094  2,268  7,094

Investments - - - - - - - - - - - -

Total financial assets   735  1,188  -  -  -  -  2,268  7,094  3,003  8,282

 
Financial Liabilities  

Bills of exchange 8.6%  8.4%  9,300  2,300  -  -  -  -  -  -  9,300  2,300

Converting notes 9.0%  9.0%  -  -  66  1,442  -  -  -  -  66  1,442

Trade and sundry payables    -  -  -  -  -  -  1 4,220  7,658  1 4,220  7,658

Total financial liabilities   9,300  2,300  66  1,442  -  -  1 4,220  7,658  2 3,586  1 1,400

 
 Weighted Average Floating Interest Fixed Interest Rate Maturing Non Interest Total
 Effective Interest Rate Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Bearing 
 Rate 
Parent Entity 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 
 % % $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 4.2%  3.5%  346  380  -  -  -  -  -  -  346  380

Deposits 6.7%  5.9%  -  808  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  808

Receivables     -  -  -  - -  -  44,191  7,094  44,191  7,094

Investments - - - - - - - - 12,329 - 12,329 -

Total financial assets   346  1,188  -  -  -  -  56,520 7,094  56,866  8,282

 
Financial Liabilities  

Bills of exchange 8.6%  8.4%  9,300  2,300  -  -  -  -  -  -  9,300  2,300

Converting notes 9.0%  9.0%  -  -  66  1,255  - 187  -  -  66  1,442

Trade and sundry payables    -  -  -  -  -  -  1 ,361  7,658  1,361  7,658

Total financial liabilities   9,300  2,300  66  1,255  -  187  1,361  7,658  10,727  1 1,400
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Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis

At 30 June 2008, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Australian Dollar 
to the United States Dollar, with all other variables remaining constant is as follows:

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Change in profit 

Increase in AUD to USD by 5%   (1,157)  (295)  -  (295)

Decrease in AUD to USD rate by 5%   1,157  295  -  295

Change in equity 

Increase in AUD to USD by 5%   (1,157)  (295)  -  (295)

Decrease in AUD to USD rate by 5%   1,157  295  -  295

Changes in the exchange rate have a direct impact on the valuation of inventory at year end. This analysis 
assesses the impact a 5% change in exchange rates would have on June 2008 profitability from inventory 
valuation changes. 

Price Risk Sensitivity Analysis

At 30 June 2008, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the value of fish feed, with all 
other variables remaining constant is as follows:

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Change in profit 

Increase in feed price by $100 per tonne   (682)  -  -  -

Decrease in feed price by $100 per tonne   682  -  -  -

Change in equity 

Increase in feed price by $100 per tonne   (682)  -  -  -

Decrease in feed price by $100 per tonne   682  -  -  -

The above interest rate, foreign exchange rate and price sensitivity analysis has been performed on the 
assumption that all other variables remain unchanged.

3  Revenue
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

From continuing operations 

Sales Revenue 
Sale of fingerlings   124  452  2 ,955  452

Sale of finfish   12,717  6,905  2 ,579  6,905

   12,841  7,357  5 ,534  7,357

Other revenue 
Interest   81  201  7 2  201

Other   639  206  3 38  206

  720  407  4 10  407

Total Revenue   13,561  7,764  5 ,944  7,764

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008

2  Financial Risk Management
(b) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis

The tables below reflect the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of 
a fixed period of maturity, as well as managements expectations of the settlement period for all other 
financial instruments. As such the amounts may not reconcile to the balance sheet.

Trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid as follows:

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Less than 6 months  12,828  7,658  7 80  7,658

6 months to one year   811  -  -  -

   13,639  7,658   7 80  7,658

The group has negotiated extended trade terms with a prime supplier.

(iii) Net fair values

The net values of assets and other liabilities approximate their carrying value.

No financial assets and financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form 
other than forward exchange contracts.

(iv) Sensitivity analysis

Interest Rate Risk, Foreign Currency Risk and Price Risk

The group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk and price risk at balance date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current 
year results and equity which could result from a change in these risks.

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis

At 30 June 2008, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other 
variables remaining constant would be as follows:

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Change in profit 

Increase in interest rate by 2%   93  8  9 3  8

Decrease in interest rate by 2%   (93)  (8)  (93)  (8)

Change in equity 

Increase in interest rate by 2%   93  8  9 3  8

Decrease in interest rate by 2%   (93)  (8)  (93)  (8)
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(b) The prima facie tax on profit from ordinary activities  
before income tax is reconciled to the income tax as follows: 
Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense  (1,217)  1,723  1 58  1,723

Prima facie tax payable on profit from ordinary activities 
before income tax at 30% (2007 - 30%)  (365)  517  4 7  517

Add tax effect of: 
• Accruals   -  8  -  8 
• Entertainment expense   8  5  5  5 
• Employee option expense   72  19  7 2  1 9 
• Converting note interest   9  24  9  2 4 
• Legal expense   2  15  2  1 5

   (274)  588  1 35  588

Less tax effect of: 
• R&D Concession   (276)  -  (276) - 
• Over provision in prior year   (9)  29  (9)  2 9

Income tax expense    (559)   617   (150)  617

The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as follows:  46%   36%   -95%  36%

 The increase in the weighted average effective consolidated tax rate for 2008 is the result of tax 
allowances on research and development expenditure combined with a tax loss.

(c) Amounts recognised directly in equity

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and 
Current tax - credited directly to equity 
Net deferred tax - credited directly to equity (note 18 )  389  180  3 89  180

  389  180  3 89  180

7  Current Assets - Cash & Cash Equivalents
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Cash at bank and in hand   735  380  3 46  380

Deposits at call   -  808  -  808

   735  1,188  3 46  1,188

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year 
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the 
financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows as 
 
Balances as above   735  1,188  3 46  1,188

Bank overdrafts   -  -  -  -

Balances per cash flow statement   735  1,188  3 46  1,188

(b) Cash at bank and on hand

The cash at bank attracts interest on a floating basis. The weighted average effective interest rate was 
4.2% - 2008 (3.5% - 2007).

(c) Deposits at call

The deposits are made on 30 to 90 day periods. The weighted average effective interest rate was 6.7% - 
2008 (5.9% - 2007).

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
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4  Other Income
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  115 11 15 11

Plant lease income   275  378  8 25  378

Administration fee   -  -  3 ,399  -

Grant income (Note (a))   4  7  4  7

  394  396  4 ,243  396

(a) Government grants

Clean Seas has the funding support of $4.15 million via an Ausindustry Commercial Ready Grant for the 
SBT Lifecycle project. Refer to note ( 1 ) for accounting treatment and the recognition of grant income.

5  Expenses
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses 

Depreciation expenses 
Buildings and dams   427  309  4 27  309

Plant and equipment   1,328  361  6 68  361

Motor Vehicles   88  24  4 0  2 4

   1,843  694  1 ,135  694

Finance costs 
Interest paid/payable   606  185   6 02  185

  606  185  6 02  185

Rental expense on operating leases. 
Building lease payments   31  -  3 1  -

  31  185  3 1  185

6  Income Tax Expense
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

(a) Income tax expense 
Current tax   (1,423)  1,071  (502) 1,071

Deferred tax   873  (483)  3 61  (483)

Under/(over) provided in prior years   (9)  29  (9)  2 9

   (559)  617  (150)  617
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10  Current Assets - Fish Inventory
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Value added fish product   2,932  -  -  -

   2,932  -  -  -

11  Current Assets - Feed Inventory
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Pellet feed   2,498  -  -  -

   2,498  -  -  -

12  Current Assets - Biological Assets
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Current Asset - Fish held for sale 
Carrying amount at beginning of Period   13,378  4,665  1 3,378  4,665

Cost of purchase of Kingfish and Mulloway   -  2,706  -  2,706

Value of fish transferred to subsidiary   -  -  (12,150)  -

Value of fish stock taken up as a result of  
business purchase   7,593 -  - -

Gain arising from physical changes at fair  
value less estimated point of sale costs  26,474  12,248  1 ,330  12,248

Decreases due to harvest for sale   (13,006)  (6,241)  (2,558)  (6,241)

Decreases due to harvest for fish inventory   (2,750)  -  -  -

Carrying amount at end of period   31,689  13,378  -  13,378

13  Non-Current Assets - Receivables
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Loan to subsidiary   -  -  4 4,022  -

   -  -  4 4,022  -

14  Non-Current Assets - Prepayments
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Prepaid marina costs   126  50  4 4  5 0

Other   2  -  -  -

   128  50  4 4  5 0

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
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8  Current Assets - Trade and Other Receivables
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Trade Receivables   2,015  5  1 22  5

Provision for doubtful debts   (20)  -  -  -

   1,995  5  1 22  5

 
Related party receivables   4  6,672  -  6,672

Other receivables   269  417  4 7  417

  2,268  7,094  1 69  7,094

(a) Impaired trade receivables

As at 30 June 2008 there was no impairment of trade receivables. A nominal provision has been made for 
unforseen circumstances.

(b) Past due but not impaired

As of 30 June 2008, trade receivables of $517,214 (2007 - $Nil) were past due but not impaired. These relate 
to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis 
of these trade receivables is as follows:

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Up to 3 months   498  -  -  -

3 to 6 months   19  -  -  -

   517  -  -  -

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. 
Based on the credit history of these other classes, It is expected that these amounts will be received when 
due. The group does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables.

(c) Other receivables

These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the operating activities of the company. Interest 
is not normally charged.

(d) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk

Information about the group’s and the parent entity’s exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate 
risk in relation to trade and other receivables is provided in note 2.

(e) Fair value and credit risk

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their 
fair value.

9  Current Assets - Prepayments
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Prepayments   475  -  3 96  -

   475  -  3 96  -
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  Marina Dams & Land & Plant &  Total
    Lease fishponds buildings equipment

Parent Entity  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June 2007  
Opening net book amount  -  107  5,752  5 47  6,406 

Additions  -  -  4,080  3 ,511  7,591

Disposals  -  -  -  (41)  (41)

Depreciation charge  -  (47)  (262)  (385)  (694)

Closing net book amount  -  6 0  9,570  3 ,632  13,262

At 30 June 2007       

Cost  -  364  10,083  4 ,644  15,091

Accumulated depreciation  -  (304)  (513)  (1,012)  (1,829)

Net book amount  -  6 0  9,570  3 ,632  13,262 

      
Year ended 30 June 2008

Opening net book amount  -  6 0  9,570  3 ,632  13,262

Additions  -  -  (133)  1 ,654  1,521

Disposals  -  -  -  (853)  (853)

Depreciation charge  -  (46)  (380)  (708)  (1,134)

Closing net book amount  -  1 4  9,057  3 ,725  12,796

 

At 30 June 2008         

Cost  -  364  9,950  5 ,445  15,759

Accumulated depreciation  -  (350)  (893)  (1,720)  (2,963)

Net book amount  -  1 4  9,057  3 ,725  12,796

17  Non-Current Assets - Investments
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Investment in subsidiary   -  -  1 2,329  -

  -  -  1 2,329  -

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
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15  Controlled Entity
(a) Controlled Entity Consolidated

 Country of Percentage Owned (%) 
 Incorporation

  2008 2007

Clean Seas Aquaculture Growout Pty Ltd  AUST 1 00  -

(b) Acquisition of Controlled Entities

On 27 November 2007 the parent entity acquired 100% of Clean Seas Aquaculture Growout Pty Ltd with 
Clean Seas Tuna Ltd entitled to all profits earned from 1 November 2007 for a purchase consideration of 
$12 million. See note 35.

16  Non-Current Assets - Property, Plant and Equipment
  Marina Dams & Land & Plant &  Total
    Lease fishponds buildings equipment

Consolidated Group  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June 2007  
Opening net book amount  -  107  5,752  5 47  6,406 

Additions  -  -  4,080  3 ,511  7,591

Disposals  -  -  -  (41)  (41)

Depreciation charge  -  (47)  (262)  (385)  (694)

Closing net book amount  -  6 0  9,570  3 ,632  13,262

At 30 June 2007       

Cost  -  364  10,083  4 ,644  15,091

Accumulated depreciation  -  (304)  (513)  (1,012)  (1,829)

Net book amount  -  6 0  9,570  3 ,632  13,262 

      
Year ended 30 June 2008

Opening net book amount  -  6 0  9,570  3 ,632  13,262

Additions through acquisition of entity  2,000  -  7  3 ,057  5,064

Additions  -  -  (125)  9 ,131  9,006

Disposals  -  -  -  (1,016)  (1,016)

Depreciation charge  -  (47)  (382)  (1,414)  (1,843)

Closing net book amount  2,000  1 3  9,070  1 3,390  24,473

 

At 30 June 2008         

Cost  2,000  364  9,965   15,816  28,145

Accumulated depreciation  -  (351)  (895)  (2,426)  (3,672) 

Net book amount  2,000  1 3  9,070  1 3,390  24,473
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Additional growout leases and licences formed part of the asset base for the purchase of Clean Seas 
Aquaculture Growout Pty Ltd. These assets have been stated at fair value by the directors based on an 
independent valuation received as part of the share purchase.

The SBT quota is carried at cost.

The carrying value of PIRSA leases are assessed on a yearly basis.

21  Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets
   Option Development Goodwill  Total
    Expense Costs 

Consolidated Group   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 30 June 2007  
Cost   25  1,442  -  1,467 

Accumulated amortisation & impairment  -  -  -  -

Net book amount  25  1,442  -  1,467

Year ended 30 June 2008      

Opening net book amount  25  1,442  -  1,467

Additions  (25)  1,671  4 ,961  6,607

Accumulated amortisation & impairment  -  -  -  -

Net book amount  -  3,113  4 ,961  8,074

At 30 June 2008

Cost  -  3,113  4 ,961  8,074

Accumulated amortisation & impairment  -  -  -  -

Net book amount  -  3,113  4 ,961  8,074

   Option Development Goodwill  Total
    Expense Costs 

Parent Entity   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 30 June 2007  
Cost   25  1,442  -  1,467 

Accumulated amortisation & impairment  -  -  -  -

Net book amount  25  1,442  -  1,467

Year ended 30 June 2008      

Opening net book amount  25  1,442  -  1,467

Additions  (25)  1,671  -  1,646

Accumulated amortisation & impairment  -  -  -  -

Net book amount  -  3,113  -  3,113

At 30 June 2008

Cost  -  3,113  -  3,113

Accumulated amortisation & impairment  -  -  -  -

Net book amount  -  3,113  -  3,113

(a) Impairment tests for Tuna propagation development expenses

The costs for the development phase will be accumulated and amortised over the commercialisation 
phase, expected to be 5 to 10 years, unless the project is abandoned at which point the accumulated costs 
will be taken to account.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
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18  Non-Current Assets - Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

The balance comprises temporary  
differences attributable to: 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss  
Deferred tax assets 
Employee benefits   186  26  7 2  2 6

Unearned income   412  201  4 12 201

Prepayments   1  3  1  3

Tax losses   772  738  2 33  738

  1,371  968  7 18  968

Deferred tax liabilities 
Inventory   (156)  (1,112)  -  (1,112)

Research and development   (934)  (433)  (934)  (433)

  (1,090)  (1,545)  (934)  (1,545)

Amounts recognised directly in equity 
Equity raising expenses   615  438  6 15  438

  615  438  6 15  438

Net deferred tax assets   896  (139 )  3 99  (139 )

Movements : 
Opening balance at 1 July   (139)  297  (139)  297

Credited/(charged) to income statement   646  (616)  1 49  (616)

Credited/(charged) to equity   389  180  3 89  180

Closing balance at 30 June   896  (139)  3 99  (139)

19  Non-Current Assets - Biological Assets
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Research and Development Expenses 
Fin fish broodstock at cost   2,751  2,673  2 ,751  2,673

Accumulated amortisation and impairment   -  -  -  -

   2,751  2,673  2 ,751  2,673

(a) Impairment tests for fin fish broodstock valuation

The costs of Tuna broodstock for the development phase will be accumulated and amortised over the 
commercialisation phase, expected to be 5 to 10 years, unless the project is abandoned at which point the 
accumulated costs will be taken to account.

20  Non-Current Assets - Other
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Growout PIRSA leases and licences   12,803  1,104  1 ,104  1,104

Southern Bluefin Tuna (SBT) quota   352  352  3 52  352

   13,155  1,456  1 ,456  1,456
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26  Deferred Tax Liabilities
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Deferred tax liabilities   -  139  -  139

   -  139  -  139

27  Non-Current Liabilities - Provisions
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Employee benefits   158  21  4 7  2 1

   158  21  4 7  2 1

28  Issued Capital
 2008 2007 2008 2007 
 Shares Shares $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

(a) Issued Capital 
Ordinary shares 
Fully paid  155,564,853  104,132,000  6 1,910  15,982

(b) Other equity securities  
Fully paid 9% converting notes  2,957,400  27,132,000  1 ,230  10,389

Total issued capital  158,522,253  131,264,000  63,140  26,371

(c) Movements in ordinary issued capital :

Date Details  Notes Number of Issue $ ‘000
     Shares Price 

 01 Jul 2007 Opening balance  (d)  1 04,132,000   15,985

 26 Nov 2007 Share placement   1 0,000,000 $1.35  13,500

  Less : Transaction costs arising on share issue.     (701)

  Current tax credit recognised directly in equity     211

 28 Nov 2007 Note conversion   2 3,998,306   9,956

 21 Dec 2007 Rights issue   1 7,258,253  $1.35  23,299

  Less : Transaction costs arising on share issue.     (594)

  Current tax credit recognised directly in equity     178

 01 Jan 2008 Note conversion   5 ,000   2

 01 Apr 2008 Note conversion   1 45,294   63

 30 Jun 2008 Note conversion    2 6,000   11

 30 Jun 2008 Balance   1 55,564,853   61,910

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
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22  Current Liabilities - Trade and Other Payables
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Trade payables   13,224  5,954  6 35  5,954

Related party payables   970  1,108  7 02  1,108

Other payables   26  596  2 4  596

   14,220  7,658  1 ,361  7,658

23  Current Liabilities - Borrowings
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Secured 
Commercial bills   9,300  2,300  9 ,300  2,300

Total secured borrowings   9,300  2,300  9 ,300  2,300

Unsecured 
Converting notes   66  1,442  6 6  1,442

SA Government/PIRSA loan   -  27  -  2 7

Total unsecured borrowings   66  1,469  6 6  1,469

Total current borrowings   9,366  3,769  9 ,366  3,769

(a) Converting notes

The converting note amount is the discounted current value of the future note interest payable at 9% .

(b) Interest rate exposure

Details of the companies exposure to interest rate changes in interest bearing liabilities are set out in note (2)

(c) Assets pledged as security

The secured borrowings are secured by a first ranking fixed and floating charge over all assets of the entity.

24  Current Liabilities - Deferred Grant Income
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Deferred grant income   2,990  2,323  2 ,990  2,323

   2,990  2,323  2 ,990  2,323

(a) Grant income

Grant income is paid in advance based on budgeted expenditure. Grant income is matched with actual 
expenditure. Residual income is shown as deferred income.

25  Current Liabilities - Provisions
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Employee benefits   394  62  1 45  6 2

   394  62  1 45  6 2
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29  Reserves
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Share option reserve 
Balance 1 July   9 7  35  9 7  3 5

Share option expense   239  62  2 39  6 2

Balance 30 June   336  97  3 36  9 7

(a) Share option reserve

The share option reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued but not exercised.

30  Key Management Personnel Compensation
(a) Names and positions held are:

Name Position Period with the Group

Mr. Hagen Stehr AO  Chairman - Non Executive  05 Sep 2000  30 Jun 2008

Mr. Marcus Stehr  Executive Director  05 Sep 2000  30 Jun 2008

Sir Tipene O’Regan  Non-Executive Director  15 Nov 2004  30 Jun 2008

Mr. Ian McLachlan AO  Non-Executive Director  01 Sep 2005  30 Jun 2008

Mr. Paul Robinson  Non-Executive Director  09 Dec 2005  30 Jun 2008

M Deichmann  General Manager Hatcheries  06 May 2004  30 Jun 2008

F Knight  Company Secretary & CFO  23 Aug 2007  30 Jun 2008

C Wilkes  General Manager Operations  16 Oct 2006  30 Jun 2008

J Ciura  Product Development Manager  14 Jan 2004  30 Jun 2008

Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors Report.

(b) Options Holdings

Number of options held by key management personnel

Key Management Person   Balance Granted as Options 
   01 Jul 2007 Compensation Exercised

H Stehr   200,000 100,000 -

M Stehr   100,000 900,000 -

T O’Regan   100,000 50,000 -

I McLachlan   100,000 50,000 -

P Robinson   - 50,000 -

M Deichmann   100,000 - -

F Knight   50,000 50,000 -

C Wilkes   50,000 50,000 -

J Ciura   - - -

Total   700,000 1,250,000 -
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28  Issued Capital (Continued)

Date Details  Notes Number of Issue $ ‘000
     Notes Price 

 01 Jul 2007 Opening balance  (e) 2 7,132,000   10,385

 28 Nov 2007 Note conversion    (23,998,306)   (9,956)

  Equity write back on conversion     874

 01 Jan 2008 Note conversion   (5,000)  (2)

  Equity write back on conversion     -

 01 Apr 2008 Note conversion   (145,294)   (63)

  Equity write back on conversion     3

 30 Jun 2008 Note conversion  (26,000)   (11)

  Equity write back on conversion     -

 30 Jun 2008 Balance   2 ,957,400   1,230

(d) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings. In the event of a winding up of Clean Seas Tuna 
Limited, ordinary shareholders rank after creditors and are entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.

(e) Converting notes

The converting notes will automatically be converted into ordinary shares in Clean Seas Tuna Ltd on 30 
September 2008.

(f) Capital management

Management controls the capital of the group in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, provide 
the shareholders with adequate returns and ensure that the group can fund its operations and continue 
as a going concern.

The group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital, converting notes and financial liabilities, 
supported by financial assets.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the group’s capital by assessing the group’s financial risks and 
adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses 
include the management of debt levels and share issues.

There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the group 
since the prior year. This strategy is to ensure the group’s gearing ratio remains below 50%. The gearing 
ratios for the year ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007 are as follows:

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Total borrowings  23,586 11,427  10,727 11,427

Less cash and cash equivalents  (735) (1,188) (346) (1,188)

Net debt  22,851 10,239 10,381 10,239

Total equity  62,946  26,596  63,912 26,596

Total capital   85,797  36,835  74,293  36,835

Gearing Ratio  27% 28% 14% 28%
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32  Contingencies
Contingent liabilities

(i)  Clean Seas has entered into a Commercial Ready Grant Agreement with the Commonwealth of 
Australia acting through the Department of Industry, Tourism and Resources. The parties acknowledge 
that the giving of the Grant for the purposes of the closure of the life-cycle of southern bluefin tuna 
project is intended to deliver substantial national benefit to Australia and as such the company has 
agreed to use its best endeavours to ensure that the planned outcomes for the Project as specified 
in the agreement are achieved and that the Project, or its outcome, is commercialised on normal 
commercial terms and within a reasonable time of completion of the Project. The company must 
immediately notify the Commonwealth if at any time it believes its capacity to achieve the planned 
outcomes is compromised or it wishes to commercialise the Project, or its outcomes, other than in 
accordance with the Agreement specifications. If these requirements are not met, the Commonwealth 
may require the company to repay some or all of the Grant paid to the company, together with interest 
at a rate of 5.185% per annum.

(ii)  In June 2006 the company entered into a support agreement with Uni-Aqua of Denmark. Uni-Aqua are 
the developers of the recirculation system installed in the Tuna broodstock facility located at Arno Bay. 
The agreement covers support in two areas: 

• Southern Bluefin Tuna - when the company produces 25,000 viable SBT fingerlings the entity will pay 
Uni-Aqua $800,000 and allot 400,000 options to purchase ordinary shares in CST at $0.50.

• Yellowtail Kingfish - when the company produces 4,000 tonnes of Kingfish that have achieved growth 
in excess of 3.5 kilograms in less than 12 months using Uni-Aqua recirculation technology the entity will 
pay $500,000 to Uni-Aqua.

33  Commitments
Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Property, plant and equipment 
Payable : 
Within one year   798  170  798  170

  798  170  798  170

Seafood CRC commitment 
Payable : 
Within one year   625  -  625  -

Later than one year but not later than five years   2,500  -  2,500  -

Later than five years   625  -  625  -

   3,750  170  3,750  170

(a) Property, plant and equipment

Upgrade to ETSA transmission lines into Arno Bay hatchery site (2008). Contract for a feed boat (2007)
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30  Key Management Personnel Compensation
(b) Options Holdings (Continued)

Number of options held by key management personnel 

Key Management Person  Balance Total Vested Total Exercisable Total  
  30 Jun 2008 30 Jun 2008 30 Jun 2008 Unexercisable 
     30 Jun 2008

H Stehr  300,000 300,000 200,000 100,000

M Stehr  1,000,000 1,000,000 100,000 900,000

T O’Regan  150,000 150,000 100,000 50,000

I McLachlan  150,000 150,000 100,000 50,000

P Robinson  50,000 50,000 - 50,000

M Deichmann  100,000 100,000 100,000 -

F Knight  100,000 100,000 100,000 -

C Wilkes  100,000 100,000 100,000 -

J Ciura  - - - -

Total  1,950,000 1,950,000 800,000 1,150,000

(c) Shareholdings

Number of shares held by key management personnel 

Key Management Person Balance Received as Options Net Change  Balance 
 01 Jul 2007 Compensation Exercised Other 30 Jun 2008

H Stehr 76,008 - - 10,626 86,634

M Stehr 190 - - 162 352

T O’Regan - - - - -

I McLachlan 50 - - 119 169

P Robinson 79 - - 80 159

M Deichmann - - - - -

F Knight - - - - -

C Wilkes - - - - -

Total 76,327 - - 10,987 87,314

31  Remuneration of Auditors
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditors

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

(a) Assurance services 
1. Audit services 
Grant Thornton  
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under 58  57  58  57

2. Other assurance services 
Grant Thornton 
Taxation return preparation   4 2  4   2

Due diligence - CSAG purchase   23  -  23  -

Total remuneration for audit services   85  5 9  85  59
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(c) Transactions with related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Sales of goods and services 
Sale of fingerlings to subsidiary   -  -  2,831  302

Hire of equipment to subsidiary   294  -  883  378

Sale of fish pellets to subsidiary   1,989  5,356  1,989  5,356

Administration charge to subsidiary   -  -  1,400  -

Interest charged to subsidiary   -  -  1,965  -

Purchase of goods and services 
Management fee paid to parent entity   101  250  101  250

Purchase of broodstock feed from parent company   115  4 6  115  46

Purchase of broodstock from parent company   70  9 4  70  94

Reimbursement of labour costs to parent company   338  3 7  105  37

Purchase of motor vehicles from parent company   33  113  -  113

Vessel hire from parent company   245  -  99  -

Plant hire from parent company   3  -  2  -

Grow out fee paid to commonly controlled entity   2,002  -  2,002  8,332

Broodstock management fee paid to commonly controlled    61  -  184 203

Fish purchased from parent company   446   -

Fish purchased from commonly controlled entity    -  -  15

Plant purchased from parent company   15  -  15  -

Tuna quote leased from parent company   101  -  101  -

Fish towing by parent company   12  -  12  -

Wine purchased from parent company   4  -  2  -

Vessels purchased from parent company   2,962  -  -  -

Reimbursement of labour costs to commonly controlled entity  -  -  -  51

Sundry expense reimbursements to commonly controlled entity  -  -  -  56

Reimbursement of expenditure on capital equipment to 
commonly controlled entity   -  -  -  426

Rent paid to parent company   46   46

Rent paid to associates   -  15 - 15

Consulting fees paid to director related company   232  138  232  138

 
Loans to related parties 
Loans advanced to:

Subsidiary   -  -  44,022  -

All borrowing for the group is done through the parent entity and working capital requirements for the 
subsidiary are provided through an inter-company loan. This loan is unsecured and repayment will be 
made through operating profits.
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33  Commitments (Continued)

(b) Seafood CRC commitment

In August 2007 the company signed an agreement to become a core participant in the national 
Seafood Cooperative Research Centre. This agreement gives the company access to research funding 
being provided by the CRC. The CRC will make $11.1 million available for the first three years. A further 
$14.8 million will be available if the company exercises the option to continue to participate for a 
further four years.

This agreement commits the company to provide $1.875 million cash contribution to finfish and Tuna 
research over the next three years. The agreement has an option to contribute a further $2.5 million cash 
in the subsequent four years.

The company will provide an in-kind contribution in the form of staff and infrastructure for the research 
work. The agreement expects this to be $5.475 million over the next three years and $7.3 million for the 
subsequent four years.

34  Related Party Transactions
(a) Parent entities

The term Stehr Group in these accounts is a collective reference to a number of private companies in the 
Santa Anna Tuna Fisheries Pty Ltd group. These companies are Stehr Group Pty Ltd and Australian Tuna 
Fisheries Pty Ltd. 

The major shareholder is Australian Tuna Fisheries Pty Ltd (ATF). ATF and associated companies controlled 
2008 55% (2007 58%) of the issued ordinary shares fully diluted for converting notes.

(b) Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to directors and specified executives are set out in the Remuneration Report of the 
Directors Report. 
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 Acquiree’s Carrying Fair Value 
 Amount  
 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Cash 66  66 

Trade receivables 2,432 2,432

Prepayments 108 108

Inventories  8,567 8,567

Plant and equipment 3,743 3,743

Water leases - 11,020

Deferred tax asset - 86

Trade payables (7,817) (7,817)

Borrowings (12,552) (12,552)

Provision for employee benefits (285) (285)

Net assets  (5,738) 7,368

The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired are based on valuations supplied by independent 
valuers prior to acquisition.

36  Share Based Payments
The following share based payment arrangements existed at 30 June 2008.

In October 2005 options to purchase ordinary shares in the company were issued to the inaugural 
directors under the following terms and conditions.

Exercise price was $0.50, expiry date 27 October 2008, held in escrow until 11 December 2007. The options 
hold no voting or dividend rights and are transferable.

In October 2005 an employee share option plan was established under the following terms and 
conditions.

The plan allows eligible employees to be offered options to purchase ordinary shares in the company. The 
exercise price is not less than the average selling price in the 5 trading days prior to the board resolving to 
offer an option. The options vest at issue and the expiry date is five years from the issue date. The options 
hold no voting or dividend rights and are generally not transferable.

During the 2008 financial year options were issued on the following terms and conditions.

(i) Employee share options - 100,000 issued under the Employee Share Option Plan

Number of options ExercisePrice Expiry Date

50,000 $0.69 29 Nov 2011 

50,000 $1.12 30 Aug 2012

(ii) Director share options - 1,100,000 issued under resolution at the AGM held 20 November 2007.

Number of options ExercisePrice Expiry Date

400,000 $1.35 31 Jan 2011 

400,000 $2.00 31 Jan 2011

300,000 $3.00 31 Jan 2013

(iii) Contractor share options - 150,000 issued under board resolution.

Number of options ExercisePrice Expiry Date

150,000 $1.35 31 Jan 2011 
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34  Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(d) Outstanding balances

The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with 
related parties:

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Current receivables 
Parent company   4  -  - -

Subsidiary   -  6,672  -  6,672

Current payables (purchase of goods & services) 
Parent entity   970  655  702  655

Subsidiary   -  453  -  453

35  Business Combinations
(a) Summary of acquisition

On the 27th of November 2007 the company completed the purchase of 100% of the issued shares of 
Clean Seas Aquaculture Growout Pty. Ltd. (CSAG) This acquisition provided key infrastructure and specialist 
personnel to carry on the business of finfish growout.

The acquired business contributed revenues of $14,205,000 and net loss of $965,000 to the Group for the 
period from 1 October 2007 to 30 June 2008. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2007, consolidated 
revenue and consolidated loss for the year ended 30 June 2008 would have been $19,205,000 and 
$3,747,000 respectively. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by 
adjusting the results of the subsidiary to reflect the additional depreciation and amortisation that would 
have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets had applied from 1 July 2007, together with the consequential tax effects.

Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows:

    $’000

Purchase consideration (refer to (b) below): 
Cash paid    12,000

Direct costs relating to the acquisition    329

Total purchase consideration    12,329 

 
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired (refer to (c) below)      7,368

Goodwill (refer to (c) below )    4,961

(b) Purchase consideration

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired 
Cash consideration   12,329  -  12,329 -

Less: Balances acquired  
Cash   66  - 66  -

Bank overdraft  -  -  -  -

Outflow of cash   12,263 -  12,263 -



5958

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Directors Declaration for the year ended 30 June 2008

36  Share Based Payments (Continued)

 2008 2007

 Number of Weighted Number of Weighted 
 options average options average 
  exercise  exercise 
  price $  price $

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  750,000  0.53  600,000  0.50

Granted  1,350,000  1.88  150,000  0.64

Forfeited  -  -  -  -

Exercised  -  -  -  -

Expired  -  -  -  -

Outstanding at year end  2,100,000  1.40  750,000  0.53

Exercisable at year end  850,000  0.57  150,000  0.64

The options outstanding at 30 June 2008 had a weighted exercise price of $1.40 (2007, $0.53) and a 
weighted average contractual life of 2.45 years (2007,2.23 years). Exercise price ranged from $0.50 to $3.00 
in respect of options outstanding at 30 June 2008.

Option pricing

The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the year was $1.88 (2007, $0.64).

This price was calculated using a Black Scholes option pricing model applying the following inputs:

Weighted average exercise price  $1.88

Weighted average life of the option  3.65

Underlying share price  $1.68

Expected share price volatility  48.15%

Risk free interest rate  6.75%

Historical volatility has been the basis for determining expected share price volatility as it is assumed that 
this is indicative of future tender, which may not eventuate.

The life of the option is based on the actual life of the contract.

Included under employee benefits expense in the income statement is $238,591 (2007, $61,910), and relates 
in full to equity-settled share based payment transactions.

37  Events Occurring After Balance Sheet Date
The directors are not aware of any events occurring after balance date that would have a material effect 
on these accounts.

38  Reconciliation of Profit After Income Tax to Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Profit for the year   (658)  1,106  308  1,106

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable  
to operating activities: 
Finance costs on convertible notes   (789)  (1,179)  (798)  (1,179)

Non-cash flows in profit 
Depreciation and amortisation   1,843  694  1,135  694

Share based payments   239  6 2  239  62

Revenue from subsidiary   2,927  -  (6,141)  -

Development costs capitalised   (1,925)  (1,056)  (1,925)  (1,056)

Net (gain)/loss on sale on non-current assets   (115)  (11)  (15)  (11)

(Gain)/loss in fair value of biological assets   (18,311)  (8,713)  1,831  (8,713)

Change in operating assets and liabilities:   -  -  -  -

Decrease/(Increase) in trade receivables   (1,990)  151  (117)  151

Decrease/(Increase) in other receivables   6,816  (6,300)  1,126  (6,300)

Decrease/(Increase) in fish inventory   (2,932)

Decrease/(Increase) in feed inventory   (2,498)

Decrease/(Increase) in future income tax benefit   (559)  613  (150)  613

(Decrease)/Increase in trade creditors   7,270  5,374  (4,372)  5,374

(Decrease)/Increase in other creditors   (708)  1,009  (978)  1,009

(Decrease)/Increase in provisions   469  4 1  109  41

(Decrease)/Increase in deferred grant income   667  796  667  796

Net cash inflow from operating activities   (10,263)  (7,413)  (9,081)  (7,413)

39  Earnings Per Share
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

(a)  Basic earnings per share (cents/share) 
Profit from continuing operations attributable to  
the ordinary equity holders of the company  (0.45)  0.90 0.21 0.90

(b)  Diluted earnings per share (cents/share) 
Profit from continuing operations attributable to 
the ordinary equity holders of the company  (0.45) 0.89  0.21 0.89
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39  Earnings Per Share (Continued)

(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 

Basic earnings per share 
Profit from continuing operations   (658)  1,106  308  1,106

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the  
company used in calculating basic earnings per share  (658)  1,106  308  1,106

Diluted earnings per share 
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
company used in calculating basic earnings per share (658) 1,106  308 1,106

Interest saving on converting notes  -  -  -  -

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
company used in calculating diluted earnings per share (658) 1,106  308 1,106

(d) Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator
Number for basic earnings per share  147,545,522  123,562,827  147,545,522  1 23,562,827

Effect of potential ordinary shares  1,465,890  6 75,753  1,465,890  6 75,753

Number for diluted earnings per share  149,011,412  124,238,580  149,011,412  1 24,238,580

(e) Information concerning the classification of securities
(i) Options

Options granted under the Employee and Officers option plan are considered to be potential ordinary 
shares and have been included in the determination of the diluted earnings per share to the extent that 
they are dilutive. The options have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share.

(ii) Converting notes

The converting notes issued during the year are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been 
included in the determination of basic earnings per share.

(f) Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share 
to take into account the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no 
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

 

In the directors opinion:

(a) The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 26 to 60, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:

 (i)  Complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and

 (ii)   Giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30th June 
2008 and their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(b)  There are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable; and

(c)  The remuneration disclosures set out on pages 18 to 22 of the Directors’ Report comply with Accounting 
Standards AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporation Regulations 2001; and

The directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer required 
by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Mr. M.A. Stehr 

Managing Director

30 September 2008
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Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed 
elsewhere in this report is set out below:

Distribution of Equity Shareholders as at 23 September 2008

 Number of equity security holders

Category Ordinary Converting Options 
 Shares Notes

1 - 1,000  454  8

1,001 - 5,000  1,042  49

5,001 - 10,000  468  39

10,001 - 100,000  838  66  8

100,001 - and over  73  3  4

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of securities at 23 September 2008 was 
Ordinary shares (238) , converting notes (2).

Twenty Largest Securityholders by Class of Security as at 23 September 2008:
Ordinary shares Number of Ordinary Percentage 
 Shares Held 

AUSTRALIAN TUNA FISHERIES PTY LTD  85,509,000  55.0%

UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD  5,310,434  3.4%

BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED  5,025,590  3.2%

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED  4,585,544  2.9%

BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED  2,976,296  1.9%

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  2,631,256  1.7%

SIMPLOT AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED  2,250,000  1.4%

BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED  1,523,787  1.0%

STEHR GROUP PTY LTD  1,125,000  0.7%

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES  969,336  0.6%

ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED  912,285  0.6%

ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED  794,791  0.5%

CHARLES DAVID LENNOX DALZIELL  660,091  0.4%

EQUITY TRUSTEES LIMITED  600,000  0.4%

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES  570,008  0.4%

COGENT NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  494,130  0.3%

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES  450,000  0.3%

ABBOTSLEIGH PTY LTD  400,000  0.3%

THE UNIVERSITY OF MELBOURNE  370,879  0.2%

PRIS-MATIC PTY LTD  367,671  0.2%

The twenty largest shareholders held 117,526,098 (2007: 103,248,927) shares and converting notes equal to 
75.5% (2007: 78.7%) of the total issued,155,564,853 ordinary shares.
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Twenty Largest Securityholders by Class of Security as at 23 September 2008:
Converting notes Number of Percentage 
 Notes Held 

MR MICHAEL DACRES-MANNINGS  170,000  5.7%

UBS WEALTH MANAGEMENT AUST.  144,200  4.9%

MR ROBERT BRUCE SUTHERLAND  110,000  3.7%

CLYBURN SUPERANNUATION PTY LTD  100,000 3.4%

C.C & O.A LANCHESTER  100,000  3.4%

PERPETUAL CUSTODIANS LIMITED  60,000  2.0%

CHITHANAND NOMINEES PTY LTD  60,000  2.0%

Y.A PALEOLOGOUDIAS  60,000  2.0%

CANE COUNTRY PTY LTD  57,782  2.0%

ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED  50,000  1.7%

MISS YASMIN ANGELIQUE STEHR  50,000  1.7%

NIKMAT PTY LTD  50,000  1.7%

COOPERS AIR EXPRESS PTY LTD  50,000  1.7%

P.S SPEROU & M SPEROU  50,000  1.7%

M & T ANGELAKIS  50,000  1.7%

MR CRAIG STUART BENNETT  48,182  1.6%

NIHON MARINE CORPORATION  45,000  1.5%

E.T PALEOLOGOUDIAS  40,000  1.4%

MS JOSEPHINE STEHR  40,000 1.4%

4 EYES LIMITED  38,000  1.3%

The twenty largest noteholders held 1,373,164 notes equal to 46.4% of the remaining issued 2,957,400 
converting notes.

On Market Buy Back
There is no current on market buy back.

Substantial Shareholders
The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their associates as listed in the Company’s 
register of substantial shareholders as at 23 September 2008 was:

 Number of 
 shares held

Australian Tuna Fisheries Pty Ltd  8 6,634,000

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd  7 ,792,190 
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Other Information
Clean Seas Tuna Ltd , incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a publicly listed company limited by 
shares.

Offices and Officers
Share Registry 

Registries Limited

Level 7, 207 Kent Street

Sydney NSW 2000

T. 02 9290 9600

F. 02 9279 0664

E. callcentre@registries.com.au

www.registriesltd.com.au

Registered Office

7 North Quay Boulevard

Port Lincoln SA 5606

T. 08 8621 2910

F. 08 8621 2990

E. reception@stehrgroup.net

www.cleanseastuna.com.au

Company Secretary

Frank Knight

Voting Rights

The voting rights attaching to each class of security are set out below:

•     Ordinary shares 
- On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote.

• 9% convertible notes 
-No voting rights.

• Options 
-No voting rights.

Stock Exchange

The companies securities are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. The home exchange is Adelaide.

Direct Payments to Shareholders Accounts

Dividends and interest may be paid directly to bank, building society or credit union accounts in Australia. 
Payments are electronically credited on the dividend date and confirmed by mailed payment advice. 
Shareholders who want their payments made in this manner should advise the Company’s share registry 
in writing.

Shareholders Enquiries/ Change of Address

Shareholders wishing to enquire about their shareholdings, dividends or change their address should 
contact the Company’s share register.
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home of Australia’s 
seafood frontier.

Clean Seas operate grow out 
facilities in an open water culture 
environment at Arno Bay, Fitzgerald 
Bay and Boston Bay – a spread of 
water along the reach of the Spencer 
Gulf, providing a unique advantage 
in being able to maximise the quality 
of the farming operations, whilst 
minimising environmental impact. 

Port Lincoln has the largest 
Southern Bluefin Tuna farming 
operations in the world, is home to 
Clean Seas and is our central hub of 
fish farming operations. 

Clean Seas own and operate a 
state-of-the-art hatchery facility 
at Arno Bay – 120km north of Port 
Lincoln. Here, the Clean Seas team 
are undertaking the world’s first 
propagation of not only Southern 
Bluefin Tuna but of Yellowtail 
Kingfish and Mulloway. 

Clean Seas also operate a second 
hatchery facility at Port Augusta  
on the northern-most reaches of 
the Spencer Gulf. 



www.cleanseas.com.au

Clean Seas

PO Box 159 
Port Lincoln 5606 
South Australia 
Telephone +61 (0)8 8621 2900  
Facsimile +61 (0)8 8621 2990
ABN 61 094 380 435 


